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Introduction 

The relationship between Ethiopia and Prester John, the mythical ruler from the 

East searched for by the Latin Christians of Europe since the twelfth century, is 

long established in scholarship for the period between the fourteenth and seven-

teenth centuries. It is not the intention of this article to recycle this discussion.1 

Instead, this article seeks to highlight an important set of four letters written by 

the Ethiopian ambassador to Portugal, Mateus, between late 1517 and 1518, 

which have hitherto largely been overlooked in both Ethiopian-centric and Euro-

centric scholarship, particularly for their importance in any discussion regarding 

the Ethiopian association with Prester John.2 These letters are signifycant as they 

pose a challenge to a growing scholarly narrative. In recent decades, Ethiopianist 

scholarship has increasingly argued that the Prester John myth was solely a Latin 

European phenomenon and was of no interest to the Ethiopians at all, not least on 

account of no reference to the Prester John myth in any surviving Gəʿəz source. 

This has been in order to challenge the lack of an Ethiopian perspective in previ 

 

 
1   For overviews of this presentation in scholarship, see, amongst many: Lefevre 1944; Ham-

ilton 1996; Salvadore 2017; Kurt 2013; Knobler 2017, 30-56; Giardini 2019; Krebs 2020. 
2   All four are currently held at the Arquivo Nacional Torre do Tombo: ANTT, Colecção de 

cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 39; ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, 

mç. 1, no. 40; ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 41; ANTT, 

Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 42. Paraphrased editions and Portuguese 

translations of two of the letters have previously been published in de Sousa 1790, 89–97, 

but these should be avoided due to their many innacuracies and incomplete nature. All four 

letters were referenced by Jean Aubin in the most complete study of Mateus’ embassy to 

date in 1976, but not in discussion of the explicit adoption of the Prester John discourse by 

Mateus: Aubin 1976. Aubin intended to publish the letters in 1980 and in 1996, but no 

editions or translations were ever made: Aubin 1976, 28, n. 136; Aubin 1996–2006, III, 405, 

n. 120. Since Aubin, the letters have seldom been referenced in scholarship discussing the 

embassy directly; for example in: Salvadore 2017, 107–123; Krebs 2021, 142–149. 
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ous otherwise largely Euro-centric scholarship. Indeed, Prester John’s association 

with the Ethiopian kingdom has recently been described by Verena Krebs as a 

‘wholly exogenous, proto-orientalist European fantasy’.3 On the whole, this  

remains true. However, Mateus’ letters require more attention in this discussion 

and suggest there may not have been a universal rejection of the myth by certain 

Ethiopians, or those acting on behalf of Ethiopia, if geopolitics required, particu-

larly by ambassadors. In each of his letters Mateus explicitly identifies himself 

specifically as Mātiyūs anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān (ماتيوس انبشدور برست جوان).4 The 

ambassador of the Ethiopian embassy, which set out for Lisbon in 1509 and re-

turned to Ethiopia in 1520, personally identified himself as being the subject of 

Prester John in his own words; this was not merely another false Latin Christian 

statement which was ignorant of Ethiopian reality. This article intends to situate 

these four letters within future discussion of Ethiopia’s relationship with the 

Prester John myth. 

Mateus’ association with Prester John is a common feature of Portuguese and 

Latin texts during the period of the embassy, including Portuguese letters said to 

be sent on behalf of the ambassador, yet none can undoubtedly be said to reflect 

Mateus’ own words unlike his own Arabic letters. His Arabic letters pose ques-

tions regarding Ethiopia’s engagement with the Prester John myth, or, at least, the 

diplomatic methods employed by at least one Ethiopian ambassador. For the pe-

riod prior to the 1509 embassy related in this article, Verena Krebs has highlighted 

how Ethiopia had explicitly rejected any association with Prester John.5 Besides 

the evidence of absence within the Gəʿəz corpus, the only explicit example we 

have of Ethiopians rejecting any association between Ethiopia and Prester John 

comes from a Latin text recording the questioning of four Ethiopian monks who 

arrived at the Council of Florence in 1441 by Biondo Flavio, the papal secretary.6 

Ethiopia’s association with the myth of the Prester stemmed from a European 

misinterpretation of apocalyptic narratives which were disseminating in both 

Egypt and Ethiopia from the fourteenth century.7 However, as Marie-Laure Derat 

has emphasised, these Ethiopian and European discourses, while sometimes shar-

ing similar traits, never became intertwined because in Ethiopia such discourses  

did not narrate an Ethiopian Christian victory over the Muslims, but, rather, sig-

nified Ethiopia’s role as the successor to Israel as the chosen land; hence why 

 
3   Krebs 2021, 4. 
4   The transliteration of the Portuguese embaixador in the text, rather than applying a more 

common Arabic term for ‘ambassador’, such as rasūl, qāṣid, or safīr, is significant and will 

be discussed below. 
5   Krebs 2020. 
6   Nogara 1927, 23.  
7   Derat 2012, 133-139; Giardini 2019. 
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Prester John played no role in comparative Ethiopian discourse.8 The monks’ re-

jection of any Ethiopian association with the Prester John myth has therefore been 

highlighted for reflecting the exogenous nature of the myth for Ethiopians.9 That 

said, Mateus’ letters pose questions for the disconnect between the message held 

within Ethiopia and the lengths ambassadors would go to achieve their aims, even 

if they actively contradicted previous messages.  

Indeed, Mateus may not have been alone in engaging with the Prester John 

myth as an ambassador for Ethiopia when we contextualise his letters with what 

could be said from the (possible) actions of other Ethiopian ambassadors, regard-

less of the otherwise seemingly consistent dismissive approach to the myth by 

their respective sponsors. For instance, prior to Mateus, a Portuguese receipt from 

1454 refers to one ‘Jorge Enbaçador de Preste Joham’.10 Without any sources 

akin to those written by Mateus to offer further context, we can only say that this 

‘Jorge’, or Giyorgis to his contemporaries, was at least perceived by the Portu-

guese to be an ambassador of Prester John; whether he adopted such a persona 

himself or not cannot be gleaned from the available sources. Nevertheless, fol-

lowing Mateus a similar example occurs in the case of Ṣaggā Zaʾab, the Ethiopian 

ambassador to Lisbon sent by ʾAṣe Lǝbna Dǝngǝl in which we do have more in-

formation. Despite the absence of Prester John in Lǝbna Dǝngǝl’s own corre-

spondence with Latin Christians, in Lisbon Ṣaggā Zaʾab informed Damião de 

Góis of the etymology of the name of Prester John in his Fides, Religio, Moresque 

Aethiopum which suggests an engagement with the Prester John myth similar to 

Mateus.11 In the first edition, published in Leuven in 1540, Damião de Góis re-

ferred to Prester John as Pretiosi Ioannis, which was expanded upon in the text’s 

reprinting in Paris in the following year. Under Ṣaggā Zaʾab’s direction, he pos-

ited that Prester John should actually be called Ioannes Preciosus because in 

Gǝʿǝz it is Ioannes Belul or Ioannes Encoe, which he says meant ‘precious’ or 

‘high’.12 The Gǝʿǝz names given by de Góis—Žan ብሉለ (Bǝlul) and Žan ዕንቍ 

(ʿƎnqw)—should actually translate via the Portuguese conflation of Žan  

 

 
 
 8  Derat 2012, 139. 
 9  Krebs 2020. 
10  Azevedo 1915–1934, II, 357. 
11  For Lǝbna Dǝngǝl’s letter, see: Sergew Hable Selassie 1974, 558–564. 
12  The Latin text reads: ‘Scribitur enim nostro sermone his characteribus ዠን፡ብሉለ quod sonat 

Ioannes Belul, hoc est, Ioannes Preciosus, sive Altus: & in Chaldaica lingua sie scribitur 

ዠን፡ዕንቍ quod est, Ioannes Encoe, id si interpreteris, etiam Ioannis Preciosi sive Alti sig-

nificantum habet’ (‘It is written in our language with these characters ዠን፡ብሉለ which 

sounds like Ioannes Belul, that is, Ioannes Preciosus (Precious), or High: and in the Chaldaic 

language it is written ዠን፡ዕንቍ, that is Ioannes Encoe, which you can interpret as also hav-

ing the meaning of Ioannis Preciosi or High’): Góis 1541, 89. 
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with ‘John’ as ‘John (the) pupil (of the eye)’ and ‘John (the) gem’ if de Góis’  

transcriptions are correct. If, in this case, ʿƎnqw represents de Góis’ definition of 

‘precious’, Bǝlul would instead be expected to read lǝʿul (ልኡል), ‘high’, and then  

therefore raises the possibility of a printing error given the similar letter forms. 

The presence of Bǝlul has been explained by the phrase Bǝlul ḵoy, ‘my pupil’ 

(ብሉለ፡ኾይ), which appears alongside žan ḵoy, ‘my king’ (ዠን፡ኾይ), in later sources 

referring to the Ethiopian ruler, as noted by Alessandro Bausi, and which Hiob 

Ludolf emphasized in his 1691 Commentary to his earlier Historia Aethiopica that 

Bǝlul in de Góis’ appellation actually translates as ‘pupil’ and not ‘high’ as de 

Góis had claimed.13 However, de Góis claimed that all Gǝʿǝz words in his text 

were signed off by Ṣaggā Zaʾab (labelled as ‘the Orator’) himself, posing the pos-

sibility that even if Bǝlul was intended, Ṣaggā Zaʾab would appear to have given 

a different definition to de Góis in order to marry the Gǝʿǝz appellation and the 

European narrative if, indeed, Bǝlul was not instead employed as a metaphor for 

‘high’.14 Moreover, as noted by Jeremy Lawrance, the Legatio Dauid Aethiopiae 

regis, the publication of missives from Ethiopia handed to the pope by Francisco 

Álvarez following his return to Europe, published seven years before the first edi-

tion of the Fides, had given the etymology of Prester John as gyam, meaning 

‘powerful’, in its postscript. This would seemingly suggest that Ṣaggā Zaʾab had 

actively tried to strengthen an Ethiopian origin to the name Prester John, contrast-

ing the explanation given by Álvarez from information he had gained in Ethiopia, 

in order to enhance the chances of success for his diplomatic aims as he informed 

de Góis and likely others during his time in Europe.15 Despite the absence of 

Prester John in Ethiopian sources and surviving correspondence between Ethio-

pian nagaśt and Latin Christian rulers, Mateus’ letters provide non-exogenous ev-

idence that at least some Ethiopian ambassadors, such as himself, Ṣaggā Zaʾab, 

and maybe the otherwise unknown Jorge, possibly did indeed occasionally inde-

pendently engage with the Prester John myth while operating within Latin Europe, 

particularly if it increased their chances of diplomatic success. The examples of 

Mateus and Ṣaggā Zaʾab would suggest that the adamant dismissal of the rela-

tionship between Ethiopia and the myth of Prester John by the monks at Florence 

was not necessarily as fervent by the sixteenth century. Limited evidence prevents 

us from making any further conclusions regarding the other ambassadors so let us 

return to the case of Mateus. 

  

 
13  ‘Žanhoy’, EAe, V (2014), 138b–140b (A. Bausi); Ludolfi 1691, 222. 
14  Góis 1541, 94. 
15  Anon. 1513; Lawrance 1992, 313. 
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The 1509–1520 Embassy 

ʾƎtege ʾƎleni, who was acting as co-regent for the then minor Lǝbna Dǝngǝl, sent 

Mateus to lead an embassy to Lisbon in 1509.16 According to surviving copies of  

Ǝleni’s letter which was taken to Lisbon by Mateus, the embassy was sent in re-

sponse to the request for Ethiopian aid by three agents of the Portuguese crown 

who had arrived at the Ethiopian court in the previous year.17 The embassy was to 

inform Dom Manuel of Mamlūk plans to attack the Portuguese fleet in the Red 

Sea and western Indian Ocean, relay the message that Ethiopia would aid the Por-

tuguese however they could, and sought marriages between the Ethiopian and 

Portuguese royal families. To cement the good will of the Ethiopian embassy, it 

was also despatched with a piece of the True Cross to gift to Dom Manuel.18 The 

military focus of this embassy was in stark contrast to that of previous embassies 

sent by Ethiopia to Latin Europe since 1402, which held cultural and artisanal 

desires.19 The embassy was small, primarily to avoid arousing suspicion on its 

journey, and appears to only have officially consisted of Mateus and one other, an 

Ethiopian called Yāʿqob, who was seemingly from the Ethiopian nobility.20 In one 

of his letters (no. 39), however, Mateus refers to Yāʿqob as ‘my son’ (waladī), 

implying that Yāʿqob was indeed his biological, rather than spiritual or metaphor-

ical, child, which could otherwise have been open to interpretation if he had em-

ployed the less specific ibnī, and would suggest that the Ethiopian Yāʿqob was 

born to a union between an Ethiopian woman and Mateus. Any links to Yāʿqob’s 

supposed nobility are not made in the letters. In addition to Mateus and Yāʿqob, 

the embassy did contain others, too. It was reported that the total number of the 

 
16  Nǝguś Nāʿod died in 1508 leaving his infant son, said to then be the age of 11, to take up 

the throne under the oversight of a tripartite regency led by ʾƎtege ʾƎleni until he reached 

the age of maturity at 20. 
17  João ‘the priest’, João Gomes, and Sīdī Muḥammad. 
18  At least two copies are known. A copy of Ǝleni’s letter which was said to have originally 

been located in Shewa was published by Sergew Hable Selassie: Sergew Hable Sellassie 

1974, 554–558. Another copy, found in a c. sixteenth- or seventeenth-century manuscript 

currently held at the Qarānyo Mādḫane ʿĀlam Church in Goǧǧām, MS G1-IV-301, ff. 

102v–103r, appears to have circulated in different manuscript networks and was not seem-

ingly known to Sergew Hable Selassie during his publication of the other: Sergew Hable 

Sellassie 1974, 565. In both manuscripts, Ǝleni’s letter is immediately followed by ʾAṣe 

Lǝbna Dǝngǝl’s letter which was delivered to Dom João III in 1527 and are independent 

additions to the main manuscript text. However, unlike the European versions, the Ethiopian 

versions erroneously associate the letters with Dom João III (r.1521–1557). A Portuguese 

copy, first published in 1521, can be found in Thomas and Cortesão 1938, 29–30 (57–59). 

A Latin translation, based on a Portuguese copy, was published in Góis 1532, A4a–A6a. 
19  See Krebs 2021.  
20  Aubin 1976, 23–24. Yāʿqob appears to also be referred to as Pẹ̄[t]ros in a much later Ethi-

opian source: Sergew Hable Sellassie 1974, 552. 
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group who arrived in Goa on its outward journey was twelve: Mateus, Yāʿqob, 

two women (Mateus’ wife and another),21 and eight, possibly enslaved, servants.22 

By early 1512, after the embassy had arrived in Goa, the Governor of India, 

Afonso de Albuquerque, returned from his sacking of Malacca. Albuquerque re-

ceived the embassy with great pleasure, yet it was not until December of that year 

that it was organised for the embassy to travel onward to Lisbon. For Albuquer-

que, Mateus’ arrival offered a chance to expand Portuguese dominion in the Red 

Sea with the aid of the Ethiopian ruler.23 

The embassy was widely epitomised by mistrust and suspicion by the Portu-

guese despite Albuquerque’s welcome hospitality. Both Mateus and Yāʿqob were 

held in custody upon their arrival at Dabhol even before making it to Goa, the 

successful outcome of which was largely due to the intercession of Albuquer-

que.24 Unlike many, both Albuquerque and Dom Manuel proved to be staunch 

allies of Mateus as Ethiopia’s ambassador. Indeed, the favour of the Portuguese 

king was felt upon the embassy’s eventual arrival in Lisbon. After leaving Goa, 

the embassy made its way to Kannur where they boarded the ship of Bernardim 

Freire, the Santa Antonio o Grande. However, Freire, further advised by Francisco 

Pereira, the captain of the accompanying Santa Maria da Conceição, like others 

in Kannur, suspected Mateus to be an imposter and put him in chains as the ships 

wintered at Mozambique on its way to Lisbon. Mateus complained of his treat-

ment to the king upon his arrival in Lisbon in February 1514, where they stayed 

for little over a year. In turn, the king imprisoned Freire and Pereira. Albuquerque, 

who did not share the suspicions of the likes of Freire and Pereira, sent an addi-

tional letter to Dom Manuel in October 1514, restating his plans for Portuguese 

activity in the Red Sea, especially if an alliance could be formed with the Ethio-

pian nǝguś with the arrival of Mateus in Lisbon.25 Equally, no such suspicion ap-

pears to have been held by Manuel, who bestowed upon both Mateus and Yāʿqob 

a knighthood of the Order of Christ on 2 April 1515, five days prior to their de-

parture from Lisbon.26 They were to return to Ethiopia accompanied by a Portu-

guese embassy, initially led by Duarte Galvão, as Manuel sought to connect with 

the Ethiopian ruler whose letter Mateus bore. The mistreatment of the embassy 

by the Portuguese during both its voyage to Lisbon and on its return is a repeated 

 
21  Whether Mateus’ unnamed wife was also Yāʿqob’s mother is unclear. The other woman 

may have been Yāʿqob’s wife but could equally have been another female relative or com-

panion. 
22  Aubin 1976, 23. 
23  Bulhão Pato 1884–1935, I, 381–384. 
24  Albuquerque 1576, 445. 
25  Bulhão Pato 1884–1935, I, 312–318. 
26  Aubin 1976, 55. 
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theme in Mateus’ letters. The return was once more fraught with Portuguese sus-

picion and the embassy’s return to Ethiopia was repeatedly thwarted and delayed 

once back in India.27 Even early on in the return disaster struck as Yāʿqob had 

died by the end of 1515, whose death Mateus blamed on Lopo Soares de Alber-

garia, the new governor of India who sailed with the fleet to replace Albuquerque, 

in letter no. 39.28  

It was not until 1520 that their return was completed, aided by another change 

in governor in the form of Diogo Lopes de Sequeira, with the Portuguese embassy 

eventually reaching Ethiopia now being headed by Rodrigo de Lima following 

the death of Duarte Galvão on the Red Sea island of Kamaran in mid-1517. Leav-

ing India in February, Mateus and the Portuguese arrived at Massawa in April. 

According to the Carta das novas, upon arrival Mateus was confirmed as the am-

bassador of Ethiopia and as ‘our father Mateus’ by the Ethiopians.29 Finally vali-

dated, Mateus began to lead the Portuguese to the Ethiopian court but died in May 

following a disease while at the monastery of Dabra Bizan, about 30 miles inland 

from Arkiko (Ḥǝrgigo) , the Ethiopian satellite port of Massawa to its south. Fol-

lowing Mateus’ death, the Portuguese continued to address Lǝbna Dǝngǝl as 

Prester John, but received no similar responses from within Ethiopia akin to those 

of Mateus during his embassy that the nǝguś was indeed Prester John as far as the 

surviving sources reveal.  

Mateus’ Letters 

All four letters are addressed to Dom Manuel and all open with Mateus self-iden-

tifying as the ‘ambassador of Prester John’. Significantly, he did not introduce 

himself first and foremost as the ambassador of either Iṯyūbyā30 or al-Ḥabaša,31 

neither of which appear in any of the letters’ openings, though al-Ḥabaša is used 

elsewhere in all four letters. When either Ethiopia or its ruler (the ‘King of  

Ethiopia’) are mentioned explicitly in Mateus’ letters, notably he does use al-

Ḥabaša, further highlighting the significance of the toponym’s absence in his 

 
27  Mateus’ letters tell us he stayed at Cochin during this period. 
28  The death of Yāʿqob is recorded in a letter dated 11 December 1515: Bulhão Pato 1884–

1935, III, 169–170. 
29  Thomas and Courtesão 1938, 39. 
30  Or an equivalent spelling based on the Gəʿəz Ityoṗya, which was the preferred way for 

Ethiopians to refer to their kingdom to a Latin Christian audience. 
31  The historical Arabic toponym for the Ethiopian kingdom remained still in use within Ethi-

opia until the turn of the twentieth century prior to the adoption of the modern Arabic top-

onym Aṯyūbyā, even appearing alongside the Gəʿəz Ityoṗya which had otherwise long been 

adopted internally since the fourteenth century. For an example of the Ethiopian employ-

ment of both Ityoṗya and al-Ḥabaša as late as the nineteenth century, see the royal seals of 

Tēwodros II (r. 1855–1868). 
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opening self-identifications. Mateus’ identity as the ambassador of Prester John, 

rather than that of Ethiopia, took precedence. The main text of the letters inform 

Dom Manuel of Mateus’ treatment by the Portuguese on his return journey to 

Ethiopia and all relate to the expedition into the Red Sea in 1517 which sought to 

land the returning embassy and the accompanying Portuguese in Ethiopia. The 

letters, which would seemingly have been written in late 1517 or 1518 once the 

failed expedition returned to India, though no date is explicitly given in the texts, 

ultimately focused on his fractured relationship with the new governor of India, 

Lopo Soares de Albergaria, who had since replaced Afonso de Albuquerque. Ma-

teus repeatedly complains about the treatment he suffered at the hands of Alber-

garia since leaving the Portuguese court in Lisbon despite the favourable treat-

ment afforded to him by Dom Manuel. The expedition related in Mateus’ letters 

disembarked from India in early February 1517 and entered the Red Sea in mid-

March. For the expedition into the Red Sea, Mateus was put on the ship of Alber-

garia’s nephew, João da Silveira, the São Pedro.32 João, or Ḍūn Ǧuwān in the 

letters, is described as being more obedient to Albergaria, rather than to the king. 

After a delay of twenty-four days at Dahlak, the captain sent a small group ashore 

with instruction to acquire provisions. Mateus protested, as the sultan knew who 

he was (the brother of the patriarch) and was a thief and a murderer, yet Mateus 

was ignored. The group, led by Lourenço do Carmo, were killed. Following this, 

Mateus encouraged the fleet to sail to either Massawa or Arkiko where there 

would be Christians and people who knew him. However, the fleet instead sailed 

to the Yemeni island of Kamaran which also coincided with Duarte Galvão’s 

death in early June. All of Mateus’ letters relate the events of mid-1517 until he 

was then taken to Cochin. It was there that he wrote his letters, making the active 

choice not to employ a Portuguese scribe for their composition the even more 

noteworthy. The core of each letter recycles the same emphasis, mainly relating 

how Mateus had no money or provisions and the events on Dahlak, though per-

sonal loss also features. In addition to the loss of his ‘son’, Yāʿqob, on the journey 

from Portugal to India Mateus also relates the loss of his wife by the time of writ-

ing letter no. 39. 

All four of the letters appear to be written in the same hand from Mateus’ per-

spective—presumably that of Mateus himself rather than a scribe—and seemingly 

in a rushed manner with the occasional error and written on either two (nos. 39, 

40, 41) or three (no. 42) sides of paper. Each letter is of similar physical size (no. 

39: 310 x 220 mm, no 40: 295 x 220 mm, no. 41: 296 x 225 mm, no. 42: 310 x 

225 mm) and with differing degrees of damage to the respective texts, though all 

remain almost completely, if not entirely, legible. Their existence is particularly 
 
32  He was also on the same ship as the Florentine Andrea Corsali who wrote a letter to Lorenzo 

de’ Medici, ruler of Florence, in 1517 which noted the presence of Mateus on the Red Sea 

expedition of Lopo Soares de Albergaria: Ramusio 1550, 196a–203b. 
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of note given that other known surviving correspondence concerning Mateus are 

written in Portuguese by a scribe and only signed in Arabic by Mateus along with 

a drawn symbol of the cross (see Figs. 1 and 2). The Arabic signatures, while 

showing similarities to the writing style of his name in the letters, do not offer 

enough to definitively compare (Table 1), but presumably all were written by Ma-

teus rather than a scribe given what similarities can be gleaned after accounting 

for possible situational variances of production, and any other extenuating factors 

which could have affected his writing style (for example Fig. 2 and letter no. 42). 

In one surviving case, a Portuguese letter signed by Mateus in Arabic was written 

in the same year as his own Arabic letters (Fig. 2) making it a significant con-

trasting example and presumably further indicates that the Arabic letters were not 

written by an accompanying scribe but by Mateus himself despite residing in Co-

chin with access to Portuguese scribes if he had wished to employ one, possibly 

indicating a sense of urgency after the failure of the expedition when other chan-

nels via Portuguese intermediaries had not proven fruitful. Indeed, inconsistencies 

in the writing would suggest they were not written by a professional Arabic-writ-

ing scribe.33  

The information within the Arabic letters does not add any significant addi-

tional light on the embassy which has not already been gleaned from elsewhere. 

Yet, that said, the most remarkable aspect of the letters is Mateus’ clear active 

adoption of Portuguese terms, not least Mateus’ direct invocation of the Prester 

John myth. Mateus’ use of the transliteration of embaixador (anbašadūr) in his 

self-identification as the ambassador of Prester John indicates a deliberate word 

choice to most interest and appeal to his Portuguese audience. Indeed, this identity 

 
33  For example, see below n. 49. 

Table 1: Comparisons of Mateus’ Signature and Written Name 

see Fig. 1  
 

see Fig. 3, letter 1 (no. 39) 
 

see Fig. 2 
 

see Fig. 5, letter 2 (no. 40) 
 

  see Fig. 7, letter 3 (no. 41) 
 

  see Fig. 9, letter 4 (no. 42) 
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transcends the four Arabic letters. For instance, letters sent by him, or more spe-

cifically on his behalf, to Dom Manuel written in Portuguese also invoke his as-

sociation with Prester John.34 Mateus also consistently employs the Arabic trans-

literation of other Portuguese titles, such as al-brinsī (príncipe), ḍūn (dom), and 

qabiṭamūr (capitão-mor) on occasion. He made an active choice not to translate 

these titles into Arabic equivalents. An interesting case of translation does occur 

elsewhere, however. Mateus repeatedly employs the Arabic sabiy (‘boy/son’) in 

place of the Portuguese title fidalgo—while a Portuguese title of the nobility it 

does literally translate as ‘son of somebody’. Given the adoption of other Portu-

guese titles, it is unclear why this particular one would be consistently translated 

in his letters. In one instance, unrelated to titles, Mateus even switches to a Portu-

guese term (būrṭa/porta, no. 42), when he had previously been using the Persian 

word bandar in his other letters to denote the Ethiopian harbour at Arkiko 

(Ḥǝrgigo). Why this isolated change in this one case is unclear. The adoption of 

explicitly Portuguese terms in Mateus’ Arabic letters has been framed by Jean 

Aubin as being the result of close contact with the Portuguese since Mateus’ time 

in Goa before being reinforced in Lisbon.35 Like many of his uses of other Portu-

guese terms, Mateus’ self-association with Prester John would seemingly be a 

product of acquiring Portuguese terminology during his journey. It would, there-

fore, appear to have been a politically motivated choice on the part of Mateus. 

Despite the repeated formula for opening his letters making his explicit con-

nection to Prester John clear, Mateus largely does not refer to his ruler as Prester 

John directly; instead, any direct reference to his ruler in the body of his letters is 

always as the malik al-Ḥabaša. One exception appears in the margin of letter  

no. 39 which reiterates that the letter was ‘from Mateus anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān,  

malik al-Ḥabaša’ (من ماتيوس انبشدور برست جوان ماك الحبشة) in addition to the self-

identification in the greeting as found in all of his letters.36 Mateus was the am-

bassador of Prester John, yet his ruler was not first and foremost Prester John 

outside of the context of Mateus’ role. The identity of Prester John would, there-

fore, appear to be more important to Mateus’ mission, rather than being more 

generally adopted by Ethiopian rulers who wanted to project such an image. Im-

portantly, Mateus’ arrival coincided with Dom Manuel’s fostering of crusade ide-

ology during his rule, which especially flourished with the support of Afonso de 

Albuquerque as governor.37 One illustrative example to highlight the contempo-

rary prospering of crusading discourse under Manuel can be seen in the title of 

the 1506 publication of the Gesta proxime Portugalenses in India, Ethiopia et 
 
34  For example: Bulhão Pato 1884–1935, III, 169–170. See also Fig. 1. 
35  Aubin 1976, 29. 
36  Similar reiterating statements are found in the margins of Mateus’ other letters, but without 

the additional malik al-Ḥabaša.  
37  See Thomaz 1990; Thomaz 1991; Humble 2000. 
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aliis orientalibus terris whose title was, uncoincidentally, reminiscent of the 

chronicling of the ‘deeds’ of the first crusaders in the Holy Land in earlier gesta, 

such as the anonymous Gesta Francorum (written by 1105), Guibert of Nogent’s 

Gesta Dei per francos (written 1109, edited up until 1121), and Fulcher of Char-

tres’ Gesta Francorum Iherusalem peregrinantium (written 1101–1127); a fact 

that Jean Delumeau has previously highlighted.38 Mateus could hardly have es-

caped Portuguese associations of Ethiopia and Prester John even if he had tried 

to. Instead, manipulation of this identity could be to his, and ultimately Ethiopia’s, 

benefit. Yet, why Mateus wrote letters to Dom Manuel in Arabic in these cases as 

well as having letters written in Portuguese via a scribe at other junctures of his 

journey is unclear. It is not known if Mateus personally wrote any other letters to 

Dom Manuel, either before or after these surviving four. The question of when 

Mateus adopted this identity, and whether he was proactive or reactive in its adop-

tion, remains open.  

With Mateus’ surviving letters only dating from after his arrival in Lisbon—

and to late 1517 at the earliest—it poses the question: when did Mateus adopt such 

a position? Was it a stance he had taken from the beginning prior to his arrival at 

Goa on the outward leg of his mission or taken up at some point during it? When 

Afonso de Albuquerque returned to Goa after the sacking of Malacca in 1512 

Mateus had already arrived in the city. According to Albuquerque’s Commen-

taries: 

O embaixador disse, que sua vinda for a por Zeila, & que áquella ora 

que o Prestes Ioão o chamara pera o mandar, Ihe descobrira sua vinda, 

sem dar conta a ninguem, & Ihe dera aquellas cartas pera el Rey de 

Portugal, não lhe dizendo outra cousa.39 

(Mateus) said that he had come via Zeila, and that only in that hour in 

which Prester John summoned him did he learn of his route so nobody 

was given notice, and then the Prester put the letters to the King of Por-

tugal into the hands of Mateus without saying anything else. 

Dom Manuel certainly understood that an ambassador from Prester John, who 

had been received in Goa via Dabhol, was on his way to Lisbon which he relayed 

in June 1513 in a letter to Pope Leo X.40 It would suggest that Mateus’ identity as 

the ambassador of Prester John may have been functioning long before he arrived 

in Lisbon, whether actively or passively. Indeed, the recorded responses of Ma-

teus to the questions of António Carneiro during his residency in Lisbon suggests 

that Mateus had a more intimate knowledge of the Prester John myth beyond 

 
38  Delumeau 1995, 181; Anon. 1506. 
39  Albuquerque 1576, 446–447. 
40  Anon. 1513, 4. 



Aethiopica 26 (2023) 103 

The Letters of the Ethiopian Ambassador Mateus and his Embassy to Lisbon 

  

merely his general existence at least by his arrival in Lisbon in February 1514. 

For instance, in answering about his kingdom, Mateus appears to reflect the leg-

end of Prester John when he apparently stated that his ruler reigned over sixty 

Christian kings, in addition to some Muslim kings; a trait remarkably similar to 

the Prester John myth most circulated by the Europeans themselves.41 The ques-

tion remains, was Mateus an instigator or adopter of this supposed identity? Ma-

teus’ self-identification as the ‘ambassador of Prester John’ is further problema-

tised by the fact that his embassy was sent in response to initial Portuguese re-

quests. As recently highlighted by Verena Krebs, the embassy was not, after all, 

an Ethiopian initiative.42 Why, then, would a diplomat acting on behalf of  

Ethiopia adopt an external discourse that fed into Portuguese desires if Ethiopia  

was solely responding to, rather than initiating, relations? These letters, despite 

being written in Arabic rather than Gǝʿǝz, would appear to be the closest thing to 

Ethiopian evidence to accompany the Latin Christian textual corpus which Matteo 

Salvadore framed as presenting Ethiopians (or those acting in the interests of  

Ethiopia in the case of Mateus) as having a proactive attitude to co-opt confusions 

about their homeland into a transcultural project for their own endeavours.43 How-

ever Mateus knew of Prester John, his responses to Carneiro would suggest that 

it was more than just merely knowledge of a name that he may have otherwise 

picked up along the way. 

The letters also provide further insight into the personal identity of Mateus; a 

question long been debated. While Yāʿqob’s social status was unclear to the Por-

tuguese, he was identified as an Ethiopian. Mateus’ origins, on the other hand, are 

many and contradictory beyond apparently arriving in Goa aged about fifty.44 

Most commonly, on account of European sources, Mateus is described as an Ar-

menian. In 1532, for example, Damião de Góis, who was later reaffirmed by the 

testimony of the then resident Ethiopian ambassador to Dom João III in 1540, 

Ṣaggā Zaʾab, described Mateus as an Armenian (natione armenicus).45 However, 

Mateus alludes himself to being an Egyptian. Both in his letters and commented 

on by Portuguese sources, he described himself as the brother (ʾaḵū) of the abun 

(or al-baṭriyārkī in letter no. 41). If this is to be taken literally, it would appear 

almost certain that Mateus must have been Egyptian as each Ethiopian metropol-

itan was a Copt received from Egypt, although this may have been a rhetorical 

description.46 For instance, it should be emphasised that Mateus also employs the 

 
41  Lawrance 1992, 321.  
42  Krebs 2021, 144-145. 
43  Salvadore 2017, 60. 
44  Correia 1860–1861, II, 325. 
45  Góis 1540, Mir-Miiv. 
46  Afonso da Albuquerque was certainly under this impression prior to Mateus’ onward 

journey to Lisbon in late 1512: Bulhão Pato 1884–1935, I, 383; Albuquerque 1576, 446. 
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term ʾaḵū when he refers to Prester John being the metaphorical brother of Dom 

Manuel (no. 42). Ethiopian sources are equally unhelpful. Ǝleni’s letter only em-

phasises Mateus’ stature as someone without rival from within her entourage who 

acted on her behalf; it does not aid in a possible identification of his origin.47 

Somewhat confusingly and without precedent, the nineteenth-century Goǧǧām 

Chronicle, which was compiled from earlier manuscripts, even describes Mateus, 

who is named as Malṭos, as ‘German’ (ya-garmānyā, የገርማንያ).48 Francisco  

Álvarez, who had arrived in Ethiopia in the Portuguese delegation accom- 

panying Mateus’ return in 1520, adds further confusion. According to Álvarez, on 

the authority of Lǝbna Dǝngǝl and other Ethiopians, Mateus was a merchant, not 

actually a brother of the metropolitan (who instead identified Mateus as a former 

friend), and not even called Mateus, but someone originally called Abraham who 

had changed his name.49 Whether Mateus or Abraham, neither name is particu-

larly unique to either Coptic or Armenian Christian communities. Yet, it may not 

be coincidental that all associations of Mateus with an Armenian heritage only 

appear during the reign of Lǝbna Dǝngǝl following Mateus’ death.  
Whatever the case, the only thing that may be said is that Mateus was seem-

ingly not an Ethiopian himself.50 The Arabic letters presented here add another 

dimension to this debate: none appear to be written by a well-versed Arabic 

speaker, suggesting that Mateus only had a limited education in Arabic despite 

seemingly being a regular writer,51 and his letters show influences from through-

out the Arab world, particularly from Syria and the Gulf region. For instance, he 

repeatedly uses the Persian word bandar (‘port/harbour’) when referencing the 

harbour of the Ethiopian ruler and uses the Persian term al-barm (‘memory’) to 

make reference to tales (i.e. false memories) he accuses Lopo Soares of spreading 

about him. Perhaps most strikingly, he uses Bardʿān (‘depot/storehouse’ in Per-

sian) as a toponym when referring to Portugal in a more general manner, seem-

ingly employing the toponym as a result of engagement with the Armazém da 

Guiné e Índias in Lisbon which oversaw all imperial nautical matters, including 

provisioning for Mateus’ return. These examples aside, there remains too little to 

definitively suggest a Persian origin for Mateus beyond highlighting the Persian 

influences in his vocabulary, which, while notable in their use, remain few. Inter-

estingly, his syntax when using ‘what’ (ايش) and ‘why’ (ليش)—both are also not 

the common forms used in Egypt—are not employed using Egyptian syntax, and 

 
47  Sergew Hable Sellassie 1974, 555, 557. 
48  Sergew Hable Sellassie 1974, 552. 
49  Alvares 1889, 186. 
50  Aubin 1976, 24–28. 
51  His script shows some regularity and habits that indicate that he was used to writing, even 

if the reading is far from evident in many cases. For example, Mateus dots the final ى, such 

as in  الي and علي, while interdental graphemes  ث ذ are not always dotted. 
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neither is his future tense, which is formed via the prefix ح, rather than the more 

common ه found in Egypt, though this form is not unknown in Egyptian Arabic. 

Mateus may well have been an Egyptian, but he did not seemingly write like one 

and instead employed a more universal Arabic syntax with the occasional external 

influences on his vocabulary choices. A more in-depth linguistical analysis of the 

letters may reveal more regarding the question of his likely background and edu-

cation, if not likely identity from a perspective hitherto overlooked. 

Acknowledgement of the four surviving Arabic letters of Mateus poses the 

need for more nuance in the discussion pertaining to the Ethiopian relationship 

with Prester John, not only within European studies but, perhaps most im-

portantly, within Ethiopian studies. While it remains most likely that these letters 

were the product of Mateus’ independent diplomatic manoeuvrings, the outright 

denial of any such Ethiopian engagement with the myth, despite the lack of cur-

rently known Ethiopian Gəʿəz material, cannot be maintained. Current evidence 

does not allow us to suggest whether the letters were reflective of a wider, and 

notably otherwise unevidenced, diplomatic discourse utilised by certain Ethiopian 

ambassadors to Latin Europe when required as, when contrasted with Mateus’ 

letters, could now be suggested also of Jorge (Giyorgis) and Ṣaggā Zaʾab, even if 

evidence for any individual nǝguś making any such associations remains lacking. 

Yet, its adoption by Mateus, and possibly others, marks a contrast between narra-

tives employed officially and diplomatically. The death of Mateus and the previ-

ous coming of age of Lǝbna Dǝngǝl as the embassy returned to Ethiopia in 1520 

has overshadowed the significance of Mateus’ diplomatic strategy. Yet, these let-

ters pose additional questions regarding the strategy of Ethiopian diplomacy with 

Latin Europe and their seeming ability to manipulate the fixation of the Portu-

guese of finding Prester John. Whether Mateus was alone in such an endeavour 

remains open to question.  

More broadly, these letters display the adaptability of diplomacy and of those 

conducting it. The diplomacy undertaken by Mateus highlights the independence 

afforded to diplomats to conduct their mission in whichever way they deemed to 

have the best chances of success, even if this meant navigating away from an 

otherwise long-held tradition. In the case of Mateus, he diverged from a narrative 

upheld by Ethiopian nagaśt and adopted one held by his hosts. At what point Ma-

teus adopted such a narrative is unclear from the sources, whether he always por-

trayed himself as the ambassador of Prester John or whether he only adopted this 

when his needs required it, namely the circumstances which led to his writing of 

these four letters. These letters provide the closest examples of Ethiopian sources 

referring to the Prester John myth that we have, rather than texts produced by a 

Latin Christian hand, even if they are written in Arabic rather than Gəʿəz. Despite 

the many more questions that Mateus’ letters threaten to pose, they provide one 

significant answer: at least between 1509 and 1520, it would appear that to some 
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degree, at least in the case of the Ethiopian ambassador Mateus, that it was not 

unknown for at least this one agent of Ethiopia operating in Latin Europe, if not 

others, to engage with Latin Europe’s identification of Ethiopia as the home of 

the mythical Prester John even if their sponsors did not. 

Fig. 1 An example of Mateus’ signature on a Portuguese letter dated  

11 December 1515. ANTT, Corpo Cronológico, Parte I, mç. 19, n.º 52.  

© Arquivo Nacional Torre do Tombo 
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Fig. 2 An example of Mateus’ signature on a Portuguese letter written in 1517.  

ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 876, n.º 11, 4r.  

©Arquivo Nacional Torre do Tombo 

javascript:__doPostBack('ViewerControl1$TreeViewFiles','sR917827')


108

Adam Simmons and Sébastien Garnier

Aethiopica 26 (2023)

Editions and Translations1 of the Letters

ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 39
Letter 1 | ӕΎزλي ا[ǏΎڅ҈ ا тɡō ] 1r ثدر

õќλҪـــф ӕـــΎان اҪـــƵ şـــɢȸō رȋـــɮõŌќس اҪـــӖšõф тـ̭ــ ōõō ȋـــŌʾ њـــф 

њــــӖǑ њــــф õќλҪــ ــ҈ اу΍ʾ̭ــــф õӗ тــ څــ ــȸه ثدر ــʍќ ΌӖӗҪــ ΍ɡ΍Ύ 5ــــõʥنћф 1ــ

њــф ȋӗȋــɮ ابȎــʾ ӕــˢ њــӖǐΎه اȎــҊ ӕــΎن اõʾدȸــō њــф т̭ــŠ  õˢر̒

Όуـ̔ــ ӗو тـــɡΎا ӕћـــӖ̑ɡӗو ӕــsـ ـ̔ــȎب  ӗ ҈ــ ــҪارص ќõˢـ  уʥŌ̒ـــҪر ɭŌΎـ

 اȸǐɡΎ وӕћ΍Š̑ӗ ȋӗȸӗ وӕћʽћф اӖ̭фõƴΎ҈ وʽћфــӕћ اΌ̮λ واɭΎــȸب

ӕــˢ ҈ــɡŌǑــ҈ وу̮õƵ ΌŠ̒ــ ȋــ څــ҈ Ύõʽšــӗȸӗ õф ӎــȋ و̒  وӗȸӗــ΍Š̒ ȋــӕ وثدر

(ȸǐـ)ـŌΎا ӕˢ تõф õŠǑ ҈ Ҫ̮̮ بõō ӕˢ مҪӗ ȸɭʾ ҈ɡуǭ ŋ ȸ̮уΎ10 ا

Ό̮ ҈ــΎ ş΍у ʾو ҈šȸŌ ŋ اҪћ̮ ӕΎ ك Ҫќر و̒ ȸ̮уΎا ӕˢ şӖф ҈šȋǭا 

ō т̭Š҉ــȋه ̒ــɭʾ ΌŌــњӗȸ وӖűμűــњ ̮ــõŠب ȸsــ ʾو ş΍ــɢار ȋــ  ɮــӕ و̒

ـ̔ــõ̒ ȋم ōو ӎـــɭ̮ ӕــsـ  ˠـــʍќو Ҧћــ ـsــӕ اћ҉Ύـــɢ ȋـ  şɡ΍ـــƵ ȋـ̔ــ ōو 

҈уــɢا ŋ ȸ̮ــф ӕــˢ ӕــΎõфه وارȋــƵ ӕــΎا ȸˡــʎλا ȸــǐŌΎا ӕــΎ2 اȸˢõــɢ 

λزاد و λ ӕــќõʥʾا λان وҪــƵ نҪʞ ҈уɢ3҈ اќõʥŌ õɢ 15ن ȸʥōس و̒

 اΌ̮ وȸɮ λب واşʽō õќ اɠŌΎ اΎــȋي اќõʥʾــф ӕــ΍ɡ΍Ύ õќλҪــõʥن

ــҪر ــ õل уʥŌ̒ــ ــȸب و̒ ـــ ــــȺاد واΌ̮ وɮـ ــ Ύــــ҈ ا ــ Ӗˢ şӗȸŠــ ــ ــ҈ واɮــ ــ  ʽӖуƵــ

 اɭŌΎــҪارص õф ̒ــȋرӖ΍ʾ õќــ҈ ɡΎõōــт وλ ̒ــȋرӖ΍ʾ õќــ҈ ǐɡΎõōــ΍Š̑ќ ȸــ҈

ȸــфا ӕــʽф ӕــɮ Όуــʾ انҪــƵ نҪــʞ نõʥــŌ  ƴΎõōــҪع وʥʽΎــɬ وان و̒

ӕــΎا т̮ȋــћʾ ӕــќҪōõƵ يȋــΎت اõќõʥــŌ̑Ύا ӕــˢ Ҫــ΍уʾ õф ɠــǐќ20 وا

 ōــȸدõʾن وان ф õӗــ΍ɡ΍Ύ (õќ)λҪــõʥن уʥŌˢــҪر اɭŌΎــҪارص уΎــњ (؟)

ŋ اΎــȋي اɢــɢ ҈уــõن ʥōــȸس اΎــȋي اӖˢ õќــ҈ ȸ̮уΎه اȋƵ ӕΎا õɭф 

ŋ اɢــу҈ اΎــӕ̭ќȺ وʞــф õћʽــњ اуΎــȸاˢ ŋ̮ــõō ӕب ȸ̮ــф ҈Ӗ΍ʾ ʤōر 

APPARATUS  |  5   1 We read reiterated vertically in the margin: انҪƵ şɢȸō رȋɮõŌќس اҪӖšõф њф 
҈ɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ф.      14   2 He corrects above the incorrect õʎ.      15   3 He corrects above the incorrect 
҈šõŌ̒.

1  Translations have tried to remain as literal as possible, but the clarity of the Arabic syntax 
in places has not always allowed for this.
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Translation

Letter 1 | [In the name of God the Living the] Eternal,1r
from the servant of your door, Mateus, Ambassador of Prester John 

(Arabic (Ar.) Anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān) to our Sovereign Sultan Manuel (Ar. 
Manūyīl), may God Almighty help him. 

I inform you from the moment I bid you farewell in Portugal (Ar. 
Bardʿān),1 (I was subject) to very bad treatment from Captain-Major Lopo 
Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ):2 he persecutes me, he pours me 
poison, he used witchcraft against me. He wants to kill me. He forbade me 
wages, he forbade me food and drink. He wants to kill me but God does not 
want this. He killed Ǧākimah (Yāʿqob).3 He had him jailed on the ship 
fifteen days at the gate of Kawkah (?) until he died at sea. I took his corpse 
on the ship to Kannur (where) I buried him and cared fully for him. I wrote 
to you to let you know about this before in twenty (or) thirty letters. Then I 
stayed in India for one and a half years in Cochin (Ar. Kušī). Then he (Lopo 
Soares) set sail and travelled to the Yellow Sea (sic), to Jeddah. He threw 
me on a ship, the São Pedro, whose captain is called Dom João (Ar. Ḍūn 
Ǧuwān). He did not give me any provision, neither food nor drink. I sold all 
the clothes that our Sovereign the Sultan, had given me. With that I bought 
provisions, food, and drink. Captain-Major Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr 
Labušuwāriṣ) said: ‘We could not kill him neither with poison nor with 
witchcraft. We will kill him with hunger and thirst’. Captain Dom João (Ar. 
Ḍūn Ǧuwān) did me such bitter and miserable things that do not (even) 
compare to the captains who took me to you in Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān). Our 
Sovereign the Sultan, Captain-Major Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr 
Labušuwāriṣ) when he went to Jeddah, the ship whose name is São Pedro 
(Ar. Sān Biṭrus) and on which I was, was attached to a ship called the Zankī 
(Conceição?). We lost (some) ships at the gate of Jeddah. The Zankī sunk. 
The winds hit them. The skipper did not know where to go. I told them: ‘Go 

1 Mateus consistently uses this toponym throughout his letters and is clearly referring to 
Portugal more broadly. The literal meaning in Persian is ‘depot/storehouse’ so this would 
specifically indicate a reference to the Armazém da Guiné e Índias in Lisbon which 
oversaw all nautical matters of the Portuguese Empire. While practical, as it would have 
overseen the affairs for facilitating his return journey, it is unclear why Mateus does not 
employ the more generic Burtuqāl (لõ̑šȸــ ــ ō), and instead focused on this specific imperial 
institution.

2 Capitão Mor in Portuguese.
3 Interestingly, the Arabic appears to transliterate the Portuguese form Jácome, rather than 

Yāʿqob.
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тــ΍ʽуΎف اȸــʽӗ õфو ǏӗȸــΎا т҉ōȸــʞو ӎ̭ќȺــΎا ŋ ȸ̮ــуΎق اȸــ  ȋƵه و̟

ӕــΎا Όــɢȸќو т̭ــӗاود õќــ҈ اɭŌǐΎا ȸــō Ҫــɭфا т҉ــΎ ş΍̑ــˢ وحȸــӗ њӗا 

ǏـــӖ΍ф ҪـــΎõ̒ ΌӖӗҪـــћф نõʥـــ΍ɡΎب اõŠــ ـ̮  фـــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎـــ҈ اƴΎـــҪاب و

ــʝΎ ş΍ــҪن ƵــҪان  وҪ΍ʎ اӕΎ د΍Ҋ̬ وΎ̑ــҪ اΌ̮λ واћ˕Ύــт واΎــõу و̒

ٔرќ њӗȸɭʾ Ҧʽōــõ҉ر اӗــΎõƵ ɬــʽš ɠــΌу ̒ــҪم ӕˢ şɡ΍Ƶ 5 د΍Ҋ̬ ا

ــȸاس ـــ҈ ōـ Ύ ş΍ـــ ــ҈ و̒ ــȋر фـــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎـ ћō Ҫ̑ـ ȸ̒ــ ــҪع وǑـ  اɭфـــʍф ӕـ

ΌӖӗҪћф نõʥ΍ɡ΍Ύ | [...] ـфȋǭ õќن اõʥ΍ɡΎم اȋǭا õф õќ(ل) اõ̑ˢ   1v

õ҉ــӖ sــ҈) [...] و ــ(ـ  ΍ɡ΍Ύــõʥن وʽōــф õќõƵ ȋــуʥŌ̒ њــҪر اӖћűــŌӗȸ̒ њـ

ӕــˢ т҉ــΎ õћ΍ــ  اʍќҪΎــҪ ̒ــʎ Ҫфȸــ΍ɡ΍Ύ ӕŌــõʥن وΎ̑ــˢ õќҪــӕ دҊــ΍̬ و̒

ʼــӖŌќ ̬΍ــҊد ӕــΎارص اҪــɭŌΎر اҪــуʥŌ̒ õћ΍ــɢار ҪــΎõ 10 (اҪŠӖƵ ɬӗ) و̒

Όــɢر ارҪــуʥŌ  ا΍ˡΎــΌˡ واŌΎــõ҉ر وΎõʍŠќــф Ǐــʎ ʼــŋǑõ دҊــ΍̬ و̒

т҉ــӖʥʽќ ɠـــ(ـӖـ)ـɡ̒ Ҫ̭Ύȸ̮ ȋǑوا ȋŌʾ ȋǑدي واҪ҉ӗ ȋǑوا õћʽф 

õф ҈ɭŌǐΎا т҉Ύ ş΍  ŋǑõʍΎ دҪӗ ̬΍ҊدõћΎ т҉ӗ اӕΎ اɭŌǐΎ҈ و̒

õќا т҉ــΎ ş΍ـ̒ـ  ӗــɢõƵ т҉΍ǭȋــҪس Ύõ̑ˢــҪ اɭфــф ӕــŌќõǑ õћʽــʌ و

15 اودي т̭ќõӖŌʎ т̭Ύ واӕŠ҉Ƶ њф ̬΍уʾ واт҉Ӗʥʾ اӕΎ اõŌҊȸΎن

њــф õфــ҈ واɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ــуΎر اȋــћō ӕــˢ يȋــΎن (؟) اõــɢ ȸــǐŌΎا ӕــΎوا 

ʞ ŋــҪن ȸ̮ــф يȋــΎا Ό̮ امȋ̒ــ т҉ــу΍  اфــɢ ȸــõʥ΍ن اõф õќ اروح و̮

λ т҉Ύ ş΍̒ ̬΍Ҋد ӕΎا õћӖɭф ǏӖـ΍ф ҪΎõ  ҪƵان وӕ΍ʾ Ҫ̭ǐʞ و̒

ـــҊ ҪΎȺћـــȋه ɢـــõرق وҊـــȋه ӗ Ό̮ـــҪم ɡӗـــȸق š λو ̬΍ـــҊد Ҫ΍ǭȋـــš 

ــʼӖŌ وҊــȋه ΍ɡфــт وҊــȋه ˢõ̮ــȸ وҊــҪه ــ)ـ 20 اŌǐΎــҪس واǐΎــõŠɡӗȸن و(ӗـ

ӕΎا ҪǑان روҪƵ şɢȸō ҈Ӗ΍ʾ رȋ̑ӗ λه وȸӗȺƴΎه اȋҊ ӕˢ ɠΎõƵ 

Ӗــ҈ اΎــõʍћرا sب وõҊȸــΎا ӕــˢ ̬΍ــуΎر اȋــћō ӕــΎا Ҫ̑ ȸ̒ــǑ ӕــΎع واҪــʍф 

õќȸــфي اȋــΎا λا ȋــӗȸќ λ لõ̒ õќҪ ȸsــʽӗ يȋــΎــ҈ اӖ sن وõɡӗȸــǐΎــ҈ اӖ sو 

ŋŠـ̮ــ ΍ŠـــтҊҪ و  уʥŌ̒ـــҪر اɭŌΎـــҪارص وќـــɢ λ ҪΎȺـــˠӖ وōȸǑ λـــ҈ و̒

õф ʼــӖуƵــ̐ وǑ ҈ــ΍̮ هȋــҊو ӕŠــӖ΍šȸ̑Ύب اõǐــʎٔد اҪ҉ــɮ т҉ــӖ΍ʾ 25

õӗ Ҫ ȸsــʽš ҪŠќب واȎ̮ ҈΍̮ ҈ʽӖуƵ ارصҪɭŌΎر اҪуʥŌ̒ т̭Ύ لҪ̑ӗ 

ӕ ȸ̮Ӗ̭ــŌΎا ҪــɭћˡΎλب اõћƵ њф ӕ΍Š̒ ȋӗȸӗ ҈ќن اõʥ΍ɡ΍Ύ(õќ)λҪф 

ȋــӗȸӗ λب وȎــ҈ ̮ــ΍̮ هȋــҊ Όуــʽӗ ȋــӗȸӗرى وȸˢ ȋќȸō بõћƵ њфو 
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to the Ethiopian shore. I will guide you. We will send to the King of 
Ethiopia the response and the letter of Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl)’. They 
said ‘Fine!’. They reached Dahlak. They found food, cattle, and water. I 
said to Dom João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān): ‘I have stayed in Dahlak twenty-four 
days. What are you doing (here) waiting? Set sail! Go to Massawa and 
Arkiko, the harbour of the King of Ethiopia’. I added ‘For the sake of 
Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl)!’ | He replied: ‘I do not serve the Sultan, I 1v
serve […]’ the Sultan. Then two crafts came to us sent from the Captain-
Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) […] on her was Lourenço do Carmo (Ar. Alwanṣū 
Qarmū), fidalgo (Ar. sabiy)4 of the Sultan. They found us in Dahlak and we 
told them: ‘What made you come here?’. They replied: ‘Captain-Major 
Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ) has sent us to Dahlak in order to 
sell pepper and spices, (but also) to get in the good graces of the master of 
Dahlak. The Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) sent with us one Jew, one 
slave, one krlkw(?)5—a priest. We entrust them to the master of Dahlak who 
will guide them to Ethiopia for us’. I warned them: ‘In Ethiopia, no spy 
enters’. They said: ‘Come with us, we will see!’ I told them: ‘I will show 
for you your fidalgos (Ar. ṣibiyānakum) (the way) with my guidance, and 
entrust them to the monks, to the Baḥr Sān (?)6 who is in the harbour of the 
King of Ethiopia. As for what concerns (the) Sultan, I do not go in to’. I 
spoke to them in front of all aboard the ship of Dom João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān). 
They laughed at me. They said: ‘Fine! We are going’. I warned them: ‘Do 
not go to Dahlak and do not get off (there)! Its ruler is a thief. Every day he 
robs the Christian captives and sells (their properties). He is a Muslim, he is 
an infidel! He stays on this island (as) a robber. (Even) Prester John (Ar. 
Brist Ǧuwān) cannot subdue him. Go to Massawa, to Arkiko, to the 
harbour of the King. There are monks, there are (different) Christians,7 
there are those who know us’. He objected: ‘We only want what Captain-

4 Throughout his letters, Mateus’ use of ‘boy’ would appear to refer to the title of fidalgo 
within the Portuguese nobility which literally means ‘son of somebody’; in this case, a 
‘son’ of the king.

5 Given the context, this may be an attempted transliteration of the Portuguese clérigo, but it 
is unclear. Why Mateus opted to employ a loanword in this case, rather than a common 
Arabic equivalent, is also unclear.

6 This would appear to, despite a clear error, presumably refer to the Bāḥr Nagāš. However, 
given Mateus’ correct use of the title Bāḥr Nagāš (Ar. Baḥr Nakāš) elsewhere in letters 
nos. 41 and 42, maybe this should instead be read as a reference to another official, such as 
a harbourmaster.

7 Mateus’ choice of employing (C)ḥrīs(ti)ān, rather than the normal Arabic word naṣārā, to 
describe these Christians is noteworthy, hence our translation between brackets reflecting a 
possible relation to different groups.
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ş΍̑ˢ رҪуʥŌ̒ ȋћʾ ӕΎان اȸу̮ ӕΎا şӗورد ҈ɭŌǐΎب اõō ǏŠˡӗ 

ʼــӖуƵ ӕــ΍ǭــ҈ وŌӗȸ̒ њــӖћű(؟) وا õɡӖــʾ њــӖћűا ӕــʽф Όــɢم ارҪــ҈ ̒ــΎ 

ȋــǑوا ӕــʽф Όــɢوار ӎــʞاȸˢ њــӖћűا ӕــʽф Όــɢن وارõʥ΍ɡΎا ƳӗاҪǑ 

̬΍ــф њــф ابҪƴΎا т̭Ύ ŋӖƵا ӕɭфا õќوا ӕǐӖɡф ȋǑوا њ  ار̮

њــф њــӖу΍ɡуΎد اμــō њф ̬Ύ روح şќا ȋӗار õф λ لõ̒ ҈ɭŌǐΎ5 ا

њـــф λع واҪـــʍф λا ̐ӗȸـــʦ ӕـــʽф õф õќـــ҈ اΎ ş΍̒ـــ ȋـــӗȸš õф њـــӗا 

õќλҪــф ابҪــƵ ӕــƴӗ њــӖǑ ӕــΎا ȋــћ҉Ύا ӕـsـ  ɠــ΍Ƶا λن واõʾدȸــō 

õќـــ҈ واʾõʦ نõʥـــ΍ɡΎا т̭ـــǑ ӕـــˢ Όʽــ lـ ӗ اراد õф ɬـــӗن اõʥـــ΍ɡΎا 

ӕʽф õ̑ō õф ن وانõʥ΍ɡ΍Ύ õќλҪф ابҪƵ ȸʍōا ȋћ҉Ύا ӕˢ ɠΎõƵ 

ـ̒ــȋ راح Ύõфـــӕ وراح фـــӕšȸ وراح 10 ا4Ό̮ وλ اɮـــȸب وλ اŌΎـــɠ و

ӕــɮ ӕــʥʽӗ λــ҈ وӖ̭фõƵ λل وõф λ ɠΎõƵ õќوا ҈у̮õƵ ىȋΎو 

ӕɮ Ό̮ Ҫ ȸsʽš نõʥ΍ɡΎا õќλҪф õӗ ҪŠќارص واҪɭŌΎا

ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 40
Letter 2 | ӕΎزλا ӕǐΎڅ҈ ا тɡō ثدر 1r

 õќλҪـــф ӕـــΎان اҪـــƵ şـــɢȸō رȋـــɮõŌќس اҪـــӖšõф тـ̭ــ ōõō ȋــ ф15ـــŌʾ њـ

 њــ ــ ــӖō ǏΎõـ ــ ـــʎ õӖќȋـ ΍Ύــ ـــõʥ΍ن  ɢــ ــ҈  ــ څـ ثدر ــȸه  ــ ʍќـ  5ΌӖӗҪــ ــ ــــõʥن ћфـ ΍ɡ΍Ύـ

ــ(ـــҪɭارص)  اњӖʦμɡΎ اõћƵ њф õќλҪф õӗ т̭у΍ʾب уʥŌ̒ــҪر اŌΎـ

 ȸــǐɡΎا [...] тــɡΎا ӕћــӖ̑ɡӗاب وȎــʾ ӕــˢ т̭ــŠ ӖǑ (њф)ــõˢ њر̒

 λو Ό̮ا λــ҈ و ــӕћ اӖ̭фõƴΎـ ـ̔ ћфو (ȋــ څـــ҈ ӗȸӗ õфـ ӗȸӗـــ΍Š̑ӗ ȋـــӕћ (وثدر

 ӕќȎــǭا ȋــ Ҫӗ Όم (õ̒)ل Ύــӕ اΎ̭ــμم اӖŌ̑ΎــǏ و̒ ȸɮ20ب وɠŌΎ λ و̮

 ΌŰـــф ورد (ةȋـــƵ =) اȋـــƵ ӕـــΎوراح ا ȸـــуǑλا ȸــ ʽфـــ҈ اΎـــӕ اǐŌΎـ

ʞ ŋـــҪن  ȸ̮ـــуΎن اõʥـــŌ ɢ ŋـــõن ʥōـــȸس و̒ ȸ̮ـــф ӕــsـ  õќدي واҪ҉ـــӖΎا

APPARATUS  |  10   4 The end of the text is written vertically in the margin on two lines.      16   5 We 
read reiterated vertically in the margin: انҪƵ şɢȸō سҪӖšõф رȋɮõŌќا. 
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Major Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ) has ordered us’. They got 
off without swords nor weapons, and they were killed by them. The friends 
of al-Qrtlytī (?)8 wrote testimonies about them. All this is true. Everything 
that Captain-Major Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ) tells you, 
everything is only lie. You know, our Sovereign the Sultan, that he wants to 
kill me because of Afonso de Albuquerque (Ar. Alfunsū al-Bakīrkī) and 
because of Bernardim Freire (Ar. Barnad Fararī). He wants to make all 
these lies. He does not want to open the gate to Ethiopia. I returned to 
Kamaran, to the Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) and I told him: ‘Move! 
Send with me two Christians (?) and two crafts, keep all the things of the 
Sultan, send with me two farāḍī,9 send with me one arkun,10 one Christian. 
I will go and bring (back) to you the answer from the King of Ethiopia’. He 
said: ‘No! I do not want to. Go yourself by the countries of the Muslims, by 
wherever you want!’ I replied: ‘I only have a road by Massawa. 
(Otherwise) (I have to go to) Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān), or I stay in India until 
the letter from our Sovereign the Sultan arrives’. ‘What?’ He did not want 
to obey the rule of the Sultan. (Now) I stay in India waiting for the answer 
of our Sovereign the Sultan. I have nothing left: no food, nor drink or 
clothes. I have lost my money, I have lost my wife, I have lost my son 
Ǧākimah (Yāʿqob). I stay without money or wages: Lopo Soares (Ar. 
Labušuwāriṣ) does not give anything. You, our Sovereign the Sultan, know 
everything.

Letter 2 | In the name of God the Living the Eternal,1r 
from the servant of your door, Mateus, Ambassador of Prester John (Ar. 

Anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān) to our Sovereign Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl), 
may God Almighty help him, Sultan of the World, pious among the sultans.

I inform you, our Sovereign, about Captain-Major Lopo Soares (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ) that from the moment I bid you farewell (I was 
subject) to mischief: he pours me poison, […] witchcraft, he wants to kill 
me (but God does not want this). He forbade me wage; no food, nor drink 
or clothes. Everyday he insults me. He brought me to the Red Sea and went 
to Jeddah. He returned like the Jew (?)11 I was on the ship São Pedro (Ar. 
Sān Biṭrus). The captain of the ship is Dom João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān). He did 

 8 ӕŠــ ــ  It is unclear who Mateus is referring to here as it shows no obvious similarity :اӖ΍šȸ̑Ύـ
with any known names of the expedition, presuming the spelling contains no errors.

 9 Somebody who divides inheritance in Islamic law. Its employment in this context is 
unclear.

10 From the Greek ἄρχων meaning ‘somebody who holds authority’, but the specific role of 
this individual here is not further elaborated upon.

11 The meaning of this passage is obscure.
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ӕˢ Όу اˢ ȋќȸō ӕˢ Ҫ΍уʾ õф ɠŌǐΎــȸرى واˢــō ɠӗȸــȸري  ʾان وҪƵ

 ҪــʍќҪΎب اõћــƵ њــфت وҪــуӗ õŠــǑ ҪــΎõ وӕќҪʽћф اΌ̮λ واȸɭΎب و̒

 ̬΍ــҊد Ҫ΍ǭȋــš λ т҉ــΎ ş΍ـ̑ـ ˢ ̬΍ــҊد ӕــˢ тҊҪــ΍Š̒ يȋــΎا ҪــфҪ̒

 т̭Ύ Όɢȸќو õќҪ ȸsʽӗ يȋΎن اõɡӖšȸǐΎد اμō ӕΎع اҪʍф ӕΎا Ҫɭфا

т̭ќõӖŌʎ5 ا΍ф ȋћʾ ӕΎ̬ اΌуʽќ õф λ ҪΎõ̒ ҈ɭŌǐΎ اλ اȋΎي õ̒ل 

 тɢõōو ҈ɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ф اسȸōو ΌӖӗҪћф اسȸō т҉Šˡ΍Ǒر وҪуʥŌ̒ õћΎ

اΎــȸب š λــҪ΍ǭȋ اΎــӕ دҊــҊ ̬΍ــȋه ōــμد ɢــȸاق وǑــȸاӗ Ό̮ ӕфــҪم 

 ȋـ̔ــ ōو Ҫـــʞر õф ʼــ)ــــ ــ Ӗــ(ـ ــ Ōӗس وҪـــŌǐΎا њـــф نõӖŠـــɢȸǭ њـــф قȸـــɡӗ

ــћō ӕـــȋر  ـsــу̮ ӕـــȸان اɭфـــӕ اΎـــʍф ӕـــҪع او اΎـ ΍̮ـــуʥŌ̒ şуـــҪر 

ــõŌҊȸن  Ό اʍћΎـــȸارى (̮ـــȎا) واΎـ Ҫ̑ و̮ ȸ̒ــ ф10ـــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎـــ҈ اɢـــǑ ҈уـ

 ӎــ΍ʾ ابҪــƴΎد اȸــќــ҈ وɭŌǐΎا ʼــ΍ʥќو т̭ƴӗاҪــǑ Ҫــɭуšو õќҪ ȸsــʽӗ

ـــ҈  اɭŌǐΎــ õōب   Ǐـــــ Šˢا  λو  ȋــــ ارӗـ  õф  λ لõ̒  ΌӖӗҪــــ ћфـ ــõʥن  ـــ ΍ɡ΍Ύ

 њــӖу΍ɡуΎد اμــō ӕــΎا şќل روح اõ واɭŌǐΎــ҈ Ҋ õфــȸʍќ тاӖќــ҈ و̒

 ȋــћ҉Ύا ӕќدȸــš λع واҪــʍф λا ̐ӗȸــʦ  ӕــʽф õф õќا ş΍̒ــ ȋــӗȸš њــӗا

 њــф ابҪــƴΎا ȋــӗȸӗ نõ̭ــќا ΌӖӗҪــћф | نõʥــ΍ɡ΍Ύ ابҪــƵ دȸــӗ õŠــǑ 1v15

 ӕــΎا õћӗدҪــӗ Ό̒õʾ ΌƵر رҪــуʥŌ фــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ ɢȸӗــф Όــȸاŋ̮ و̒

ћōــȋر фــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ واќــõ̭ ا΍ɡΎــõʥن ћфــӗȸӗ õф ΌӖӗҪــˢ ȋ҉ــӗ Ҫــȸد 

 њӖǐـΎاك اȋˢ ȋӗȸš õф њӗروح ا ӕΎ لҪ̑ӗر وȋɮõŌќا ӎ΍ʾ ابҪƴΎا

 Όуʾه اȋћʾ ӕΎا ӕќدȸӗ λوا ҈Ӗˢ ӕɭфا ̐ӗȸʦ ӕΎ ǏŠˡӗ ӕΎõʽš ҈څ ثدر

 ӕــʽф õф (اȎ̮ــ) نõʥــ΍ɡ΍Ύا õќλҪــф õӗ ب وانȸــΎم اȋــǭا ӕــʞاȸˢ20

ــȺاد  ـ̔ــɡŌΎ ȋـــӕ وҪǑاƴӗـــ΍ʾ ӕـــӕ اΎـ ōو (بȸـــɮا) λو Ό̮ا λ ӕـــɮ

 ӕــɮ ӕــʽф õфــ҈ وу̮õƵ ȸŌ̒ــ ӕــ΍ʾ ҈̒ȋــʎب وȸــɭΎوا Ό̮λا ӕ΍ ʾو

اȸʎف õŠǑ ӕɡˡќ ӕ΍ʾ او (اӕΎ) μōدي ان õʥ΍ɡ΍Ύ õќλҪф õӗن 

 њــф اȸــɡӖΎى اȸŠــɭš Όــɢȸšو (اȎ̮ــ) њــӖʦμʍΎا њــӖō ǏΎõــʎ şќا

ō25ــμد اӖу΍ɡуΎــњ وŠʽš̑҉ــʍ΍ǭ тــӕћ وارɢــΎ Όــӕ اƴΎــҪاب اõф اي 

 ӕــΎا ȋــћ҉Ύا ӕــˢ ɠــΎõƵ õќوا ӕɭћӗȸŌــΎك اȋــΎو њــʾ õ̒ȋــʎ λ õфا

څ҈ ӕΎõʽš وان  ӕћӖƴӗ њӖǑ اҪƴΎاب õќλҪф њф اõʥ΍ɡ΍Ύن رӎʞ ثدر

μ̮ њфõš λ õќλҪф õӗم ҪуʥŌ̒ر ان ӖуƵــΎҪ̑ӗ õф ʼــ҈ ΍̮ــ҈ ̮ــȋب 
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in jail what Bernardim Freire and Francisco Pereira (Ar. Barnad Fararī wa-
Afrīs Bararī) had done to me (on the voyage to Portugal). They forbade me 
food and drink, saying ‘so that he dies’. As for Lourenço do Carmo (Ar. 
Alwanṣū Qūmū) who they killed (with others) in Dahlak, I warned them: 
‘Do not enter Dahlak! Go to Massawa, to the country of the Christians who 
know us! We send for you your fidalgos (Ar. ṣibiyānakum) to the King of 
Ethiopia’. They objected: ‘No, we only do what the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr) tells us’. I swore to them: ‘For the sake of Manuel (Ar. 
Manūyīl) and for the sake of the King of Ethiopia, and by the name of Lord, 
do not enter Dahlak! It is a country of thieves and robbers. Everyday they 
steal from the Christians, from the Ethiopians, and they sell what pleases 
them’. Then I spoke to the Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) in Kamaran: 
‘Go to Massawa or to the harbour of the King of Ethiopia called Arkiko! 
All the Christians and the monks know us. You make your things go. We go 
up to Ethiopia and we bring the answer to Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl)’. 
He replied: ‘No, I do not want to, nor will I open the gate of Ethiopia. The 
Ethiopians are not Christians’ and continued: ‘Go yourself to the countries 
of the Muslims, to wherever you want!’ I answered: ‘I only have the road to 
Massawa, otherwise, you bring me back to India until I receive the letter 
(from) Sultan| Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl). If he wants a letter from the King of 1v 
Ethiopia, he (will) send ships. The Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) is a 
clever man. He will guide us to the harbour of the King of Ethiopia. If 
Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl) does not want this, he sends the letter to the 
Ambassador and tells me: “Go wherever you want!”’ At this moment, God 
Almighty opens me a road to go. Otherwise, he brings me back to him. I 
will work and be satisfied to serve the Lord. Our Sovereign the Sultan, I 
have nothing: no food nor drink. Besides, my clothes and things are 
(expended) upon the provisions, the food and drink, (also) on the offerings 
for the grave of Ǧākimah (Yāʿqob). I have nothing to spend for myself, or 
even to (go to) my country. Our Sovereign the Sultan, you are pious among 
the sultans. You send (riches) to redeem captives from the countries of the 
Muslims and you free them. Deliver me and send me the letter, ‘yes’ or 
‘no’, by charity for your son the Prince (Ar. al-brinsī)! I stay in India until 
the letter from our Sovereign the Sultan arrives, God the Highest be pleased 
(of him). Our Sovereign, do not trust the words of the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr). Everything he says, it is all lies. You know about Captain-
Major Afonso de Albuquerque (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Alfunsū al-Bakīrkī) and 
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ӕ وфــƵ њــõћب  ȸ̮Ӗ̭ــŌΎا ҪــɭћˡΎر اҪــʥуŌ̒ بõћــƵ њــф Ҫ ȸsــʽš ҪــŠќوا

 ӕــ ــΎ ȋـــǭ ӕـــȸӖ وŠˡ΍Ǒـــ҈ اŠќـــф õӗ Ҫـــ΍ʾ õќλҪـ ــ҈ ӗȸӗ õфـ ـsــȸري اќـ  ȋـــќȸō

 ΌŰـــфλوا ǏӗȸـــΎا ΌŰـــф ӕـــƵõћф şـــɢȸō Όуــʾـ  õфو ӕـــƵõћф şـــɢȸō

 ӕـــ ɮ Ό̮ Ҫـ ȸsــ ــʽš Ҫــ ــ Šќا õќλҪــ ــф õӗ ӕــ ــˡ̭ӗ ŋ΍ــ ــΌŰ اΎ̭ــ اǬΎــــȸا وфــ

 ʼــˡћš ʼــˡћš õф نõфȺــΎه اȋــҊ ӕــˢ لõ̑ــʽΎج اȸــǑ ҈Ӗ΍ʾ õф نҪћƴуΎ5وا

 ΌŰــф ҪــʥӖʽӗو т҉ــуű (ن)ҪــфõуΎا ʼــ΍ʥӗو ҪــʦҪɡӗ يȋــΎا њӖќõƴуΎا

 ̬у҉ــ΍ӗو ȸــфλا Ǐــ΍ʍӗ ӎــΎõʽš ҈څــ څــ҈ Ύõʽšــ6ӎ وثدر Ҫ ثدر ȸsــʽӗ õфو тــћ˕Ύا

њӖфا ȸӖǬΎا ӕΎا

ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 41
Letter 3 |  7ӕΎزλا ӕǐΎڅ҈ ا тɡō ثدر 1r

 õќλҪـــф ӕـــΎان اҪـــƵ şـــɢȸō رȋـــɮõŌќس اҪـــӖšõф тـ̭ــ ōõō ȋــ фـــŌʾ њـ

 т̭ــŠ څــ҈ Ύõʽšــӕ اу΍ʾ̭ــф тــӖǑ њــõˢ њر̒ ΍ɡ΍Ύــõʥن ћфــʍќ ΌӖӗҪــȸه ثدر

 ȋــӗȸӗ ҪــҊ ارصҪــɭŌΎر اҪــуʥŌ̒ њــф ȋӗȋɮ ابȎʾ ӕˢ نõʾدȸō њф

 ȋ ӕћʽћф ȋ اӖ̭фõƴΎ҈ وλ اΌ̮ وȸɮ λب و̒ څ҈ ȋӗȸӗ õф و̒ ӕ΍Š̒15 وثدر

 ӕــɮ ӕــʽф õ̑ــō õфب وȸــɭΎوا Ό̮λا ӕــ΍ʾ ӕــʽф õф ʼــӖуƵ şʽــō

 λوف وȸــʍф λو ȸуǑλا ȸǐŌΎا ӕΎه اȋƵ ӕΎا ҈ʽф ӕќȎǭا ȋ و̒

 ҈уــɢــ҈ اšȎǭõќس وȸــʥō نõɢ ŋ ȸ̮ф ӕˢ ӕћʥǑب وȸɮ λو Ό̮ا

΍ــõō ӕب  ʾو ӕ̭ќȺــΎا ҈уــɢا ŋ ȸ̮ــф طҪōȸф õћʽф نõ Ҫʞن ҪƵان و̮

ــњ راح  õћ اӗـ ȸsــ ʾـ  õфو ӕ̭ќȺـــΎق اȸـــ ــф õћʽـــњ اуΎـــȸاŋ̮ و̟ Ƶ20ـــȋهф 8ـ

 õф тـــ΍ʽуΎوا ȸـ̭ــ ɡʽΎ9 اɬـــŠʽΎا њــ ــф Ҫـ уʥŌ̒ـــҪر واуΎـــȸاšõуˢ ŋ̮ـ

 õќλҪــф õӗ õќا ȸŌــΎا ӕــ΍ʾ ŋ ȸ̮ــуΎõō Ҫфȸــӗ وح ورادوȸــӗ њــӗف اȸــʽӗ

 ӕΎا ş΍ اт҉šȎǭ اӕΎ د΍Ҋ̬ وارт҉šҪӗ اӗȸʥΎ̐ اȸō ӕΎ اɭŌǐΎ҈ و̒

 ӕــΎا ӕــɭфا ΌӖӗҪــћф نõʥــ΍ɡΎاس اȸō ŋ ȸ̮уΎن اõʥŌ̒ انҪƵ نҪʞ

Ҫʍф25ع اȋћō ӕΎر фــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ ʍќــќ ˠــõ҉ر õ̒ل õф ارӗــȋ اǭــȋم 

APPARATUS  |  7   6 The word is difficult to read.      11   7 We read reiterated vertically in the 
margin: انҪƵ şɢȸō رȋɮõŌќس اҪӖšõф.      20   8 It reads هȋǭ however.      21   9 ɬʥʽΎا.
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about Bernardim Freire (Ar. Barnad Fararī). (This Captain-Major) wants 
no good for me. I swore to him, you Our Sovereign, against ‘Prester’ (Ar. 
brist) Munāǧī (? Menezes?)12 (Alas), what the ‘prester’ did is like the wind, 
or rather shit (sic), or like the dog. Enough, o our Sovereign, you know 
everything. The fool feels no shame. Wisdom in those times is to no avail. 
The fools prevail, who mix up (things), while the trustworthy leave (?). 
Then they yell like the sheep, they do not know God Almighty. May God 
Almighty repair the situation, may He inspire you the good, Amen.

Letter 3 | In the name of God the Living the Eternal,1r 
from the servant of your door, Mateus, Ambassador of Prester John (Ar. 

anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān) to our Sovereign Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl), 
may God Almighty help him.

I inform you that from the moment I bid you farewell in Portugal (Ar. 
Bardʿān), (I was subject) to very bad treatment from Captain-Major Lopo 
Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ). He wants to kill me but God does not 
want this. He forbade me wage, food, and drink. I sold everything I possess 
for food and drink and I had nothing left. He took me to Jeddah on the Red 
Sea, without money, food, or drink. He put me on board of the São Pedro 
(Ar. Sān Biṭrus). Her pilot’s name was Dom João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān). There 
was a(nother) ship attached to us called the Zankī (Conceição?). In the 
vicinity of Jeddah (there were other) ships with us. The Zankī sunk. We 
ignored where the Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) and the other ships went. 
They died of thirst. The soldiers and the skipper (of the boat I was on) did 
not know where to go. They wanted to land. I, our Sovereign, took them to 
Dahlak. I showed them the road to the shore of Ethiopia. I said to Dom 
João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān), captain of the ship: ‘For the sake of Sultan Manuel 
(Ar. Manūyīl), go to Massawa, to the harbour of the King of Ethiopia, half a 
day (from here)!’. He replied: ‘I do not want to serve the Sultan, I serve 
Captain-Major Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ)’. Twenty-four 
days later he plundered Dahlak. He took their sheep and cattle. He killed 

12 It is unclear who this refers to. It could possibly refer to the governor’s nephew, Aleixo de 
Meneses, the Capitão-mor do Mar, and most senior Meneses in the East. The choice of 
‘prester’ is unusual unless it is used to signify ‘elder’ as Meneses was not a priest. In any 
case, the significance of the employment of this transliterated word is unclear.
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 њӗȸɭ ʾو ҈ʽōٔر اõʥ΍ɡΎن اõќ اȋǭم ҪуʥŌ̒ر اҪɭŌΎارص ӎŠǑ ȋʽō ا

 ɬــӖΎ ş΍̒ــ ȋــǑوا ΌŠــ õ҉ќر ŋ҉ќ دҊــ΍̬ واǭــућ˖ ȋــõ҉ وō̑ــõҊȸ و̒

 ȋــʽōو ӕ ــӕћ اќــӕ اǭــҪ اʥŌΎــõӗȸر̮ ȸsʾ ̬΍ــҊن دõʥ΍ــɢه وȋــҊ Όуʽš

 şǑرا њــӗا ŋ̮اȸуΎا λر وҪуʥŌ̒ فȸʽќ õф رõ҉ќ њӗȸɭ ʾو ҈ʽōٔر ا

ф њӖŌــћʾ њــуʥŌ̒ ȋــҪر  ȸ̮ــф 10њӖŠŌӗȸات (؟) ̒ــȸ̮ــ њــф õќõƵ ȋــʽō5و

 ӕˢ т҉Ύ õћ΍ ӕˢ اҪΎاȋǑه اȸӖ˕ʍΎ اҪΎرӕŌʎ Ҫфȸ̒ Ҫʍќ اõʥ΍ɡΎن و̒

 ȋــŌʾ ȋــǑوا т҉ــʽфو ̬΍ــҊد ӕــΎر اҪــуʥŌ̒ õћ΍ــɢار ҪΎõ̑ˢ ҪŠӖƵ ɬӗا

ΎõــΎ Ҫــõӗ ӕ اɮõћōــȋر  واǑــӗ ȋ҉ــҪدي واǑــȋ ̮ــȸاћǐф Ҫ̭ΎــҪر (؟) و̒

 ӕــˢ يȋــӖŌ ʾو ӕــƴӗاҪǑ şӖ΍ــǑ õŌǑȸــф ş΍̑ــˢ õћʽــф ӕــɭфل اõʽــš

 Ҫ̑ ȸ̒ــǑ ӕــΎع اҪــʍф ӕــΎا Ҫــɭфا т҉ــΎ ş΍ــ ʞ ŋــҪن ƵــҪان و̒ ȸ̮ــф10

Ӗ҈ اȋΎي  sس وҪɡ̒ ҈Ӗ sن وõŌҊر ҈Ӗ sرا وõʍќ ҈Ӗˢ ҈ɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ф رȋћō

 ŋћــƵ ɠــΎõƵ ӕــќا ӕــΎ ˠــ΍Ǒ انҪــƵ نҪʞو ǏӖ΍ф ҪΎõ̑ˢ õћќҪ ȸsʽӗ

 ȸŌــǭ 11ҪــŌǐӏšو ȸŌــǭ دوҪــšو њӖŌ ȸ̮уΎا | ӕƴӖš õф њӖǑ ӕΎا ̬΍Ҋد 1v

 њـــф هȸـ̭ــ ō ȋـــʽō ҈ـــɭŌǐΎا ΌҊرا واõʍћـــΎا њـــф 12نҪ ȸsـــʽӗ يȋـــΎوا

 Ҫфȸ̒ــ ҪــʍћӐҪΎوا õћǐــќان وȸــу̮ ӕــΎا ŋ ȸ̮ــуΎ(؟) ا Ҫ̒õــɢ ــ 15اҊ ǏŌʍΎـ

΍ʽˡš ɬӖΎ т҉Ύ ş΍ــҊ Ҫــȋه اول اǭــȸب  (؟) اȎǭوõќ اӕΎ د΍Ҋ̬ و̒

 ҪŠōȸــǭرق واõــɢو ӕфاȸــǑ 13̬΍Ҋد ŋǑõʎان وҪƵ نҪʞ ̬΍Ҋد

 õф ʼــӖōس وҪــŌǐΎق اȸــӗ مҪــӗ Ό̮ هȋــҊ هȋــћʾ Ҫــ΍уʽš ɬــӗده اμــō

õل т҉Ύ اт̭ŌǑ õф õќ اȋΎي  ӕћф Ҫʽуɢ دҪ΍ǭ وт҉Ӗ΍ʾ ̬ǐʞ و̒

ΎҪΎõــ҈ Ҋــȋه اɮõŌќــȋر ћф õќõфــ҈ اš şќــҪدي  ȋӗȸš20و ءاõќ اˢــΎ Όʽ̭ــт و̒

 õŌǑȸـــф т҉ـــΎõ̒ ҈ـــɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ـــф ȋـــћʾ ӕـــΎل اõƵـــ҈ رűμŰΎه اȋـــҊ õћــ Ύـ

 њــф شõ̭ــќ ȸــǐō ȋــћʾ ӕــΎا т҉ــӗي واودȋــћʾ њــф ŋ ȸ̮ــф ӕــʥʾا

њӖʦμɢ اõŌǑȸф ҪΎõ̒ ҈ɭŌǐΎ وΎ ˠ΍Ǒ҉ــт وҊــт اʥʾــΎ Ҫــ҈ ̒ــõуش 

 ӕــΎا ҪΎȺћš ҪΎõʽš т̭΍ōõ̒ا ȋӗار т҉Ύ لõ ӕ دŋҊ و̒ ȸsɮا Ҧӗõуō ӕɮ

 т̭ــʽф õ̒μــšوا ӕــƵا õќوا ҦــōȸǑ λو ˠӖــɢ Ҫــ΍уǐš λو ΌǑõɡΎ25ا

 ̬΍ــф اسȸــō ΌӖӗҪــћф نõʥــ΍ɡΎاس اȸــō نõʥــŌ̒ ӕــɮ λ т҉ــΎ ş΍̑ــˢ

APPARATUS  |  5   10 њـــӖōرõ̒.      13   11 ҪـــŌŠ̭š?      14   12 It reads قҪ ȸsــ  ʽӗ however.      17   13 We readـ
reiterated vertically in the margin: ҈ɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ф ̬΍уΎ õфرو وҪф.
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one (of them). I asked him: ‘Why do you do that while the(ir) sultan knows 
that I am the brother of the Patriarch (Ar. al-baṭriyārkī)?’ After twenty-four 
days we did not know where the Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) and the 
ships had gone. Then two small crafts came to us (sent by) the Captain-
Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) from Krāt (?). On one of them was the small 
Lourenço do Carmo (Ar. Alwanṣū Qarmū), fidalgo (Ar. sabiy) of the Sultan. 
We told them: ‘Why did you come?’. They answered: ‘The Captain-Major 
(Ar. Qabiṭamūr) sent us to Dahlak’. With them were a slave, a Jew, and a 
krālkw maḥnūr (?).13 They added: ‘O Ambassador (Ar. anbašadūr), come 
and follow us!’. ‘For sure, I will!’. I left my things and my slaves on the 
ship of Dom João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān). ‘(Let us) go to Massawa, to Arkiko, 
the harbour of the King of Ethiopia. There are Christians, there are monks, 
there are priests. There are people who know us’. ‘Good!’, they said. Dom 
João (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān) promised me: ‘I (will) stay near Dahlak until | the 1v 
ships (return) and you bring news to write of those from the Christians and 
Ethiopians they know’.14 Two days after in the morning they sailed the ship 
to Kamaran. As for us, with Lourenço do Carmo (Ar. Alwanṣū Qarmū), 
they took us to Dahlak. I remarked: ‘Why did you do that? First, Dom João 
(Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān) ruined Dahlak. Besides, the master of Dahlak is a robber 
and a thief. You ruined his country. What do you do by him? Everyday, he 
enslaves captives and (he) sells (them)’. They did not listen to me. They 
entered (the city) and he mocked them. He told them: ‘What is it that you 
want me to do for you?’ They told him: ‘This one is an ambassador (Ar. 
anbašadūr). We have no ties with him. Guide these three men to the King 
of Ethiopia for us’. He answered them: ‘For sure, I will! I provide one of 
my ships and I will guide them to (the) Bāḥr Nagāš (Ar. Baḥr Nakāš), one 
of the Ethiopian sultans’. ‘Thanks!’ they replied. He swore to them and 
they gave him fabric worth about one hundred ašrafī of gold.15 He 
requested from them: ‘I want to meet you. Come, get off to the shore. Do 
not carry swords or weapons. I will come and meet you’. I begged them: 
‘No way, Captain. For the sake of Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl)! For the 
sake of the King of Ethiopia! For God’s sake! Do not get off, they will kill 
you!’ They replied: ‘You do not know anything. This is our friend. We 
swore an oath. He will guide our people to Ethiopia for us’. They went 
(ashore) and they were killed. They did not listen to my words. A report has 

13 Possibly a reference to a clérigo (cleric). In letter no. 39 this individual is specifically 
identified as a priest (qaṣīs).

14 The syntax of the Arabic text here seems faulty.
15 The equivalent of c. 350 g.
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 õф şќا ӕــΎҪΎõ т و̒ Ҫ̮΍Š̑ӗ هȋҊ ӕΎا ҪΎȺћš λ ҈څ اõɮ њф ҈ɭŌǐΎن ثدر

 ӕــΎا õћɢõќ õћΎ ديҪō هȋҊو ҈ʽф õћˡ΍Ǒو õћŌǑõʎ هȋҊ ӕɮ فȸʽš

ــ҈  ــӖ΍ʾ ŋŠ҉ــт ور̒ ΍ŠــтҊҪ وɢ õфــфμ̮ Ҫʽуــӕ و̮ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ وراǑــҪ و̒

 õћǑر õћōȸҊر وҪуʥŌ̒ õћΎ لõ̒ يȋΎا λا Όуʽќ õф õћǐќ ҪΎõ ȋ҉ōه و̒

 şќم اҪر ̒ــҪуʥŌ̒ ӕΎا ş΍ 5اҪуʥŌ̒ ȋћʾ ӕΎر وт҉ћф ҈űμű Ҫšõф و̒

 ȋӗار õф õќل اõ̒ ҈ɭŌǐΎا ̬΍ф بõō ӕΎوح اȸš سõћΎوا ŋ̮اȸуΎوا

 ş΍̑ــˢ نõʾدȸــō Ό̮ امȋ̒ــ ȋــӗȸš õф њــӗا ̬ΎõǑ ӕˢ ̬Ύ روح şќا

 њــф ابҪــƴΎــ҈ اΎ ردõˢ ΌӖӗҪــћф نõʥــ΍ɡΎم اȋــǭا õŠــǑ اروح õф õќا

 ǏــŠˡӗ λو ΌʥــŌӗب وȋ̮ــ Όʽـlـ Ӑ ȋــӗȸӗ هȋــҊ Ό фــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ و̮

 њــфول وλر اҪــуʥŌ̒ ӎ ȸ̮Ӗ̭ــŌΎا ҪــɭћˡΎن اõــɮ њــф ҈ــɭŌǐΎب اõō10

 ӕــќҪќõǭ يȋــΎا ƳӗاҪــћΎري اȸــō ɠӗȸــˢن اõــɮ њــфرى وȸˢ ȋќȸō نõɮ

 õќλҪـــф õӗب وȋـ̮ــ ـ̔ــҊ Όуـــȋه  ӗ ȋـــӗȸӗن وõʾدȸـــō ӕـــΎك اȋـــћʾ ӕــ اΎـ

̮ــــμم   ʼــــуɡš λو ӕــــɮ  Ό̮ ــــõʥن اʎ şќــــҪʥћ وʽšــــȸف  ΍ɡΎا

 õф ʼӖуƵ 14 وانȋӗȸӗ õф ҈΍Ύõˢ ӕ΍Š̒ ȋӗȸӗ ҈ќõˢ ارصҪɭŌΎر اҪуʥŌ̒

ӗ15ــ΍̮ ̬Ύ ŋŠ̭ــ҈ ̮ــȋب واћǐуΎــҪر Ӗ΍ʾ õфــ҈ Ǒــȸج واɢ şќــõʥ΍ن 

Ǐʎ لҪ̒ ҈΍̮ т̭Ύ ş΍ɢي أرȋΎا ӕфμ̮ õќوا õӖќȋΎا

Letter 4: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 42
Letter 4 |  ӕΎزλا ӕǐΎڅ҈ ا тɡō ثدر 1r

 õќλҪـــф ӕـــΎان اҪـــƵ şـــɢȸō رȋـــɢõŌќس اҪـــӖšõф тـ̭ــ ōõō ȋــ фـــŌʾ њـ

څ҈ ӕΎõʽš اф õќλҪф õӗ т̭у΍ʾــƵ њــõћب  õʥ΍ɡ΍Ύ20ن ȸʍќ ΌӖӗҪћфه ثدر

уʥŌ̒ــҪر اɭŌΎــҪارص ɢــʽф õќȸˢõــ҈ اΎــӕ اǐŌΎــȸ اуǑλــȸ اΎــƵ ӕــȋه 

ȸуان وλ اӕќõʥʾ زاد وӖ̭фõƵ λ҈ وõћ΍ʎ اõō ӕΎب  واȋʾ ӕΎن و̮

 ΌŰــф عҪــʍф ӕــΎا ȸӖــɢ ҈ــΎ ş΍ــ اɭŌǐΎ҈ اƵ şɢȸō ҈ʦȸō ӎΎــҪان و̒

õ̒ õфل ΍ɡ΍Ύــõʥن уʾــȸ ̒ـــˢ ΌӖŠɡــʍф ӕــҪع õ̒ل ӖΎــɬ وʽōــȋ راح 

 ҈Ύ ş΍̑ˢ انȸу̮ ӕΎك ورد اȸ̭ɡʾ ʼӖʞو ̬Ύõф ʼӖʞ هȋƵ ӕΎ25ا

 ɬــӖΎ نõʥــ΍ɡ΍Ύ لõ̒ õф ΌŰــф عҪــʍф ӕــΎا ӎــɭуš مҪان ̒ــȸу̮ ӕˢ

APPARATUS  |  14   14 The end of the text was written in two lines vertically in the margin.
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been written on this.16 They said: ‘We only did what the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr) ordered us to do’. We fled and went to the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr). Three of them had died. I told the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr): ‘Get up and (set sail) with (your) men to the gate of the King 
of Ethiopia!’ He rebuffed me: ‘I do not want to! Go alone wherever you 
want!’ in front of all the Portuguese. ‘I will not depart until I have served 
Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl) and I brought him (back) the answer of the 
King of Ethiopia’. All he wants (to do) is to lie and foil. He is reluctant to 
give access to Ethiopia, because of Afonso de Albuquerque (Ar. Alfunsū al-
Bakīrkī), the first Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr), because of Bernardim 
Freire (Ar. Barnad Fararī) and because of Francisco Pereira (Ar. Afrīs 
Bararī), the hypocrites who betrayed me at (your court) in Portugal (Ar. 
Bardʿān). He wants to make lies. Our Sovereign the Sultan, you are a saint 
(Ar. ṣanṭū), you know everything, so do not listen to Captain-Major Lopo 
Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ). He wants to kill me but God does not 
want that. Everything he writes to you is only lie. The maḥnūr does not feel 
ashamed. You are the Sultan of the World. My words that I send you, these 
are true speech.

Letter 4 | In the name of God the Living the Eternal,1r 
from the servant of your door, Mateus, Ambassador of Prester John (Ar. 

anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān) to our Sovereign Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl), 
may God Almighty help him. 

I inform you about Captain-Major Lopo Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr 
Labušuwāriṣ) (that) we travelled with him to the Red Sea, Jeddah, Aden, 
and Kamaran. He did not give me provision nor wage. We reached the gate 
of Ethiopia at the harbour (Ar. būrṭa)17 of Prester John (Brist Ǧuwān). I told 
him: ‘Sail to Massawa, like ʿUmar Qastīl said to the Sultan in Massawa’.18 
‘Why?’, he replied. Then he went to Jeddah and wasted your money and 
your soldiers. Then he returned to Kamaran. In Kamaran I told him: ‘Stand 
up and go to Massawa as the Sultan said!’ ‘Why? I do not set off and I will 
not send anything. Nobody goes to Ethiopia’. I begged him: ‘For the sake 
of the Sultan! If you do not go yourself, send with me two Arabs, two 

16 The meaning of this passage is obscure.
17 Here, Mateus employs the Portuguese word ‘porta’, rather than the Persian ‘bandar’ as he 

does elsewhere in his letters. It is unclear why he would switch terminology only in this 
one instance.

18 The meaning of this passage is obscure.



122

Adam Simmons and Sébastien Garnier

Aethiopica 26 (2023)

õф اɢــȸӖ وλ ارɢــɮ Όــӕ وλ اǑــȋا ӗــȸوح اΎــӕ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ ̒ــΎ ş΍ــ҈ 

ȸōاس õʥ΍ɡ΍Ύن ان şћ̮ اȸš õф şќوح ارӕʽф Όɢ اӖћűــʾ њــȸاب 

 ȋــǑ15 واӎــʞاȸˢ ȋــǑوا њــ ـ̒ـҪس واǑــȋ ار̮ õќ ȋــǑــ҈ واŌӗȸ̒ њــӖћűوا

 ӕــΎك اȋــћʾ õ̑ــŌŠš نõʥــ΍ɡ΍Ύ ƳӗاҪǑ ӕ΍ǭن وõʾدȸō ΌҊا њф سõќ

 ΌҊا Ό ـــ҈ و̮ ـــҪاب фــــф њــــ΍̬ اɭŌǐΎـ ــΎ ŋӖ̬ اƴΎـ ــõф њ اƵــ ӖǑ5ــ

ќҪ̬ واΎــõŌҊȸن واɡ̑ΎــҪس وɢــõʥ΍ن  ȸsــʽӗ ҈ــɭŌǐΎا ȸــō ΌҊع واҪــʍф

 ɬӖΎ لõ̒ انҪƵ şɢȸō ŋӗاȸ̒ њф ȸӖŌ̮ نõʥ΍ɢ شõ̭ќ ȸǐō ȸŌΎا

 ȋــӗȸš ȋӗȸš њӗا ̬̑ӗȸʦ ӕˢ روح şќا ӕɮ Όɢ(ر)ا λو Όʽˢا õф

 ̐ӗȸــʦ ӎʽф õф õќا ş΍̑ˢ نȋʾ њф ȋӗȸš هȸōȸō њф ȋӗȸš ʼӖōر њф

 ӕΎا õŠǑ ̐ӗȸʦ ӎʽф õф هȸŌʾ عҪʍф њф λا њӖу΍ɡуΎد اμō њф10

 ӕــsـ ـ̒ــõф ş΍ اќـــȺل اõќ اфـــҪت  ـʾــȋن وروح   њـــф لȺـــќل اõ̒ نȋــʾـ

 ӕــΎا Όــɢز ارҪфȸ҉ــΎا ӕــΎا õќȸــɢ ΌӗҪــћф نõʥــ΍ɡ΍Ύ õќλҪــф şфȋــǭ

ــȸاس  ــ ō ş΍ـــ ـ̒ ــҪфȸز  ــــȺل ˢــــӕ اΎ҉ــ ќل اõ ــȸ و̒ ـــ҈ ɡʾ̭ــ ـ̔ фون وȸــ اʥŌΎــ

اõʥ΍ɡΎن اõф õќ اȺќل ӕˢ اҪфȸ҉Ύز μō ӕˢد اҪу΍ɡуΎ(ن) ˢــō ӕــμد 

15اҪуΎرو اõќ اҪфت Ҫ̮õӖš њɢ т̮ واҪƵ њɢ ΌŰфλان ȋӗȸš اȸǐΎب 

اõќ اšــʽф Όšõ̭̭ــт واфــҪت وλ اروح фــō њــμد اӖу΍ɡуΎــњ اروح 

اӕΎ اȋћ҉Ύ واɭ̮ ӕˢ ɠ΍Ƶــӕ (؟) اΎــӖǑ ӎــӗ њـــ[...]ان ΍ɡ΍Ύــõʥن 

 ҪــуʥŌ̒ Όــɢȸӗ Ҫ҉ــˢ ҈څــ ثدر اќــõ̭ن ӗȸӗــȋ [...] ان | ΍ɡ΍Ύــõʥن ʍќــȸه  1v

ʍќــȸاҪӗ Ό̒õʾ ӕќدӗــӕћ اΎــӕ اɭŌǐΎــ҈ اΎــɢȸō ӕــƵ şــҪان واќــõ̭ن 

 ̐ӗȸــʦ њــф ӕــɭфوا ȸӖــɢن اõʾدȸــō ӕــΎا ӕќدȸــӗ ȋــӗȸӗ õф نõʥــ΍ɡ΍Ύ20

 ӕــΎه اҪ̑ــΎõō ҈Ӗ΍ʾ (؟) 16ŋŌǐˢ ديμō اروح ҈ӗرȋћ̭ɢا њф õфرو

 ȋــ اӕɭ̮ ӕˢ ӕћʽћф ȋћ҉Ύ اşӖŌΎ اӕћʽћф ҈Ӗˢ њ̭ɢ اӖ̭фõƴΎ҈ و̒

 õќوا ӕــɮ ӕــʽф õ̑ō õф ӕ΍ʾ ҈Ӗ ȸsʎوا ҈΍̮ ӕʽф يȋΎا ɠŌΎا şʽō

څـــ҈ ان õ̮ن ӗȸšـــɢȸō ȋـــƵ şـــҪان  ثدر ــȸه  ــõʥن ʍќـ اɢـــõل фـــõќλҪ ا΍ɡΎـ

 õф õќλҪــф نõ̭ــќدي واμــō ӕћــӗدҪӗ Ό̒õʾ ӕќاȸــʍќ رҪــуʥŌ̒ Όــɢ25ار

 ӕـــΎا ӕـــќاب ردҪـــƴΎا ӕـــΎ Όـــɢان ارҪـــƵ şـــɢȸō ӕـــˢ ضȸــʾـ  ̬Ύ

ــõӗȸућ وǐōـــ̐  ــ̐ ɢـ ōـــȸدõʾن اروح اΎـــӕ روҪӗ õфدӗـــō ӕћـــμدي ǐōـ

APPARATUS  |  3   15 For ӕʞȸˢ.      21   16 ȋӗ ӕˢ?
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crafts, one bell, one arkun, one far(ā)ḍī, one Portuguese. Keep the things of 
the Sultan by your side until I bring you the reply of the King of Ethiopia. 
Massawa’s inhabitants and the people of the Ethiopian shore, they all know 
you, and the monks, and the priests. The sultan of the land, Bāḥr Nagāš (Ar. 
Baḥr Nakāš) is a great sultan, among the relatives of Prester John (Ar. Brist 
Ǧuwān)’. He rebuked: ‘Why? I do not want to send (anyone). Go your 
(own) way wherever you want! By Rabīʿ […] By Berbera19 […] By Aden 
[…]’. I objected: ‘I have no way through the Muslim countries except to 
cross via Massawa. I have no way until Aden’. He suggested: ‘Get off in 
Aden and then go!’ I held on: ‘I do not get off. I will die in the service of 
our Sovereign Sultan Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl)’. We travelled to Hormuz. He 
sent to the governor (Ar. baṭrūn) with soldiers. He ordered: ‘Get off in 
Hormuz!’ I refused: ‘For the sake of the Sultan, I do not get off in Hormuz, 
in the country of the Muslims, in the country of the Moors (Ar. al-Mūrū).20 
I (will) die like São Tiago (Ar. San Tiyākū) or like São João (Ar. San 
Ǧuwān). You want war? I will join you and die. I do not go by the countries 
of the Muslims. I go to India and stay in Cochin (Ar. Kušī) until the Sultan 
[…] if he wants […] | the Sultan, may God help him. He sends (to) the 1v 
Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) a clever Christian who guides me to 
Ethiopia to Prester John (Ar. Brist Ǧuwān). If the Sultan does not want this, 
he sends me back to Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān). I will travel on the road to 
Rome (Ar. Rūmā) and via Alexandria I will go to my country’. He was 
forced (?) to India.21 In Cochin (Ar. Kušī) he refused me a house to live in. 
He forbade me wage. (Hence) I sold all my clothes (to cover) my expenses. 
I had nothing left. I ask you, our Sovereign the Sultan, may God help him, 
if you want Prester John (Ar. Brist Ǧuwān), send (to) the Captain-Major 
(Ar. Qabiṭamūr) a clever Christian who guides me to my country. If our 
Sovereign does not have a proposal to Prester John (Ar. Brist Ǧuwān), mail 
me a reply and send me back to Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān). I go to Rome (Ar. 
Rūmā). He (?) guides me to my country. For the sake of Holy Mary (Ar. 
Sanmariyā), for the sake of the Spirit Xristos (Ar. al-Rūḥ Ḥrīsṭūs) (sic), by 
the cross of Christ son of God, send me a reply. I am staying in India, 

19 Close to the harbour of Zinǧibār in Yemen.
20 Portuguese mouros. The employment of this specific Portuguese ethnonym to describe the 

Muslims would suggest Mateus was specifically highlighting this statement to his 
Portuguese audience.

21 The meaning of this passage is unclear.



124

Adam Simmons and Sébastien Garnier

Aethiopica 26 (2023)

 ӕـــќـــ҈ رد څ ʎـــŋӖ΍ اӖɡуΎـــǏ اōـــњ ثدر اΎـــȸوح ǑـــҪʥɡӗȸس وǐōـــ̐ 

 õќا λت واҪــуΎا ΌҊا њــф õќا λ ȋــћ҉Ύا ӕــˢ ɠــΎõƵ ӕــќõˢ ابҪــƴΎا

њф اΌҊ اõӖǐΎة وان õ̒ õф ʼӖуƵل т̭Ύ وارɢــΎ Ό̭ــт اɭŌΎــҪارص 

 λــ҈ ا΍̮ هȋــҊ Όуــʾ õф õќλҪــф õӗ Ҫــу΍ʽšب وȋ̮ ҈΍̮ т̭Ύ ŋŠ و̮

 ʼӖـــ ـ̮ـــȋب وʞـ  Όуــــʽӗ ȋـــ ӎ وӗȸӗـ ȸ̮Ӗــ ــõћب اɭћˡΎــــҪ اŌΎ̭ــ ф5ــــƵ њــ

 ȋــӗȸӗ õфو õќλҪــф õӗ وان ̬Ō̮اȸــф ʼӖــʞو ̬Ύõф ʼӖــʞك وȸـ̭ـ ɡʾ

õō ǏŠˡӗب اɭŌǐΎ҈ وõф اȸʾف ȋҊه ΍ɡ΍Ύ њфــõʥ(ن) اΎــȎى Ҋــȋه 

 şќ17 واõӖќȋــــ΍Ύا Ό̮  ş΍̑ــــʾ õќλҪــــф  õӗ şќوا  ŋӖ΍ــــʍΎو اȋــــʾ

 ˠـــʍќ نõʥ΍ـــɢ انҪـــƵ şـــɢȸō كҪـــǭوا õӖќȋـــ΍Ύا ˠـــʍќ نõʥ΍ـــɢ

 ŋǑõــʎو ̐ӗȸــʥΎه اȋــҊ ǏــŠˢه واȋــҊ ˠــʍќ(ـــΎ)ا ȋــӗار õќوا õӖќȋ΍Ύ10ا

 ʼــӖуƵ وان ȋــӗȸӗ õф ارصҪɭŌΎان واҪƵ şɢȸō كҪǭا њӖōو ̬ћӖō

 ȋــӗȸӗ õф ӕــΎõʽӐ ҈څــ õф ارɢــΎ Ό̬ ̮ــȋب وҊــӗȸӗ ҪــΎ ȋــӕ اуΎــҪت وثدر

 ȸ҉ــƴф ӕћــ΍Š̑ӗ ȋــӗȸӗر وȋ̒ــ õфو тــɡΎا ӕќõ̑ــɢوا ȸــǐɡΎا ӕــΎ ȋــ ʾو

 Ҫфȸ̒ ҪʍќȸΎا ̬ӖŌʎ بõћƵ њф õфن اõʥ΍ɡ΍Ύ õќλҪф њф نõˡǐō

 ӕــˢ õќوا ̬΍ــҊد ӕــˢ ҈ــŠӖ̑Ύ õќوا ̬΍ــҊد ӕــΎرص اҪــɭŌΎا ҈΍ــɢار ȋ15̒ــ

ʞ ŋــҪن ƵــҪان ˢــɢ ӕــʥō њــȸس وҊــҪه ˢــō ӕــɭ̮ ȸــӕ وʽфــ҈  ȸ̮ــф

 ş΍ـ̒ــ  тـــ΍ɡф ȋـــǑوا ȋـــŌʾ ȋـــǑوا ɠӖـــɢاҪƵ ديҪـــӗ ȋـــӗȸӗـــ҈ وŌӗȸ̒

ȋћō Ҫ̑ر ΍ф̬ اȋҊ ҈ɭŌǐΎه ɢــõʥ΍ن  ȸ̒Ǒ ӕΎع واҪʍф ӕΎا ӕɭфا

 | ـsـــõ̑ل [...]   тــ ـــȸق [...]و΍Š̑ӗ̭ــ ـــ[...] ɡӗـ ــ Ύõ̮ رقõــ ــɢ ̬΍ــ دҊــ

 λا ̬фμ̭ــΎ Όуــʾا õф õќل اõ اҪΎرʍќــфҪ̒ Ҫــʎ ҪــӖŌ̬ وќҪōõƵــӕ و̒ 2r20

اΎــȋي õ̒ل Ύــуʥу̒ ӕــҪر اɭŌΎــҪارص ̒ــş΍ ̒ــȋام šõ̮ــŋӖ اŌӗȸ̑Ύــ҈ 

 ӕــΎا ȸŌــΎا ҪΎȺћــš λ ΌӖӗҪــћф نõʥــ΍ɡΎاس اȸــō 18ҦــŌӗȸ̑Ύا тــ΍ʽф امȋــ و̒

دҊــ΍Š̑ӗ ̬΍̭ــˢ 19тــɢ õуــф Ҫʽуــ20ӕћ واɢــʎ ΌــӖŌ̬ دӗ̭ــҪ اوфــ҈ 

 Ό̭ــΎõō ̬уــ΍ʽӗ هҪــҊ ̬ӖــΎا ӕــΎõƵ يȋΎ21 اҦӖōȸʽΎا ŋӖšõ̮ لõɢوا

 тــ ـ̭ ˡ΍ǐӗو т҉ـــ΍̮ ŋ̮اȸـــуΎا ӕــ sـ  ̬ӖـــΎا њــ ــт اΎـــȋي ӖōõƵـ 25و΍̭šـ

APPARATUS  |  8   17 It is the spelling in this letter.      22   18 We read it misspelt ҈Ӗōȸ̑Ύ19   23      .ا It is 
struck out because of a metathesis: т̭ــŠ΍̑ӗ.    |    20 We read vertically in the margin: ̬ӖŌʎ т΍  و̮
ــ҈ Ҫ اوфــ Ҫ̮ӏــ  ʞ.      24   21 We do not exclude in the last two lines a confusion between two closeــ
homographs, ҈Ōӗȸ̒ and ҈Ӗōȸʾ. We maintain this in our translation.
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between the dead and the living. Everything that Lopo Soares (Ar. 
Labušuwāriṣ) told you, sent you and wrote you, it is all lies. You know, our 
Sovereign, that he only did all that for Afonso de Albuquerque (Ar. Alfunsū 
al-Bakīrkī). He wants to make lies, to waste your soldiers, your money, 
your ships. He does not want to open22 the gate to Ethiopia. I do not know 
if it is from the sultan who is the enemy of the cross. You, our Sovereign, 
understand the whole world. You are the Sultan of the half of the world. 
Your brother, Prester John (Ar. Brist Ǧuwān), is the Sultan of the (other) 
half of the world. I mean this half. I open the road. (I am) the friend 
between you and your brother Prester John (Ar. Brist Ǧuwān). Lopo Soares 
(Ar. Labušuwāriṣ) does not want (that). Everything he sent you is lie. He 
wants my death but God does not want it. He used witchcraft against me, 
he gave me poison to drink, (but) he did not prevail. He wants to kill me 
openly (with?) the servants of our Sovereign the Sultan. With respect to 
your fidalgo (Ar. sabiy) Lourenço do Carmo (Ar. Alwaranṣū Qūmū), Lopo 
Soares (Ar. Labušuwāriṣ) sent him to Dahlak. I met him in Dahlak, while I 
was on Dom João’s (Ar. Ḍūn Ǧuwān) ship, the São Pedro (Ar. San Biṭrus). 
He was in the land of Cochin (Ar. Kušī) and has a craft. He wants to 
dispatch spies. One is a slave, one is a Muslim. I said: ‘Go to Massawa and 
to Arkiko, the harbour of the King of Ethiopia. This Sultan of Dahlak is a 
thief […] he steals […] he kills you […]’. He said [‘…’] | Lourenço do 2r 
Carmo (Ar. Alwanṣū Qūmū), your fidalgo (Ar. sabiy), and they brought 
me. He objected: ‘I will only do of your words what Captain-Major Lopo 
Soares (Ar. Qabiṭamūr Labušuwāriṣ) (orders)’. I declared in front of the 
craft’s secretary and in front of the craft’s skipper: ‘For the sake of Sultan 
Manuel (Ar. Manūyīl), do not go ashore in Dahlak, he will kill you!’ They 
did not listen to me. Ask your fidalgo (Ar. sabiy) Diego Jaume (Ar. Dīakū 
Lūmah), ask the secretary in Arabic who came from me to you. He will 
inform you of everything. Talk to the ones who (return) to you on the ships. 
All of them, swear to you, report to you the true and exact (facts). As for 
me, our Sovereign, no one writes to me, Sultan of Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān), 

22 The Arabic is ambiguous: yaftaḥ means to open but also to conquer.
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 ӕــΎ ŋŠ̭ــӗ اȋــǑا õф õќλҪــф õӗ õќوا ǏــӖǐʍΎــ̐ واǐΎõō كҪــу΍̭ӗ

 ӕــΎا ŋŠ(؟) ̮ــ њــӖуΎا т҉ــΎ لõ õʥ΍ɢن ȸōدõʾن ̮ــʽΎõō ŋŠــӕōȸ و̒

 ӕــΎ Όــʎو ӕــɮ ӕــΎ ŋŠ̭ــӗ اȋــǑٔا õф(؟) و ҈Šˡــɮ بõŠر ̮ــȋــɮõћōا

 õф ȸӖŰ̮ ӕɮ ӕŌ΍̒ ӕˢ õќλҪф њ̭Ύن وõʥ΍ɡΎا õќλҪф њф њӖōõŠ̮

 õф ӕــɭ̮ ӕˢ ɠΎõƵ نõʥ΍ɡΎا õќλҪф õӗ õќب واõŠ̮ ˠΎا ҈ʽɢҪӗ5

 õф ӕــʽф õф ʼــӖуƵو ӕــɡŌΎ şʽــōزاد و ȋــћʾ λــ҈ وӖ̭фõƵ يȋــћʾ

ȋћʾي ӕɮ واҪōس Όɢ اӕɡќȸŌΎ ذا22̬Ύ وфــƵ њــõћب ا΍ɡΎــõʥن 

څ҈ õ҉уǑȸӗ ӕΎõʽš وȸŌӗد т̭Ō΍̒ وان  ȸǑ õӗȸф õќҪʞص ȺƵا тӖʵʾ ثدر

ӖуƵــō ʼــȸدõʾن ќҪʝ˕Ōӗــф ӕــƵ њــş҉ اɭŌΎــҪارص وˢõǬӗــћф Ҫــ҈ 

10وњф ا΍Ҋ҈ وфــњ اΎــȸŌم واф õӗ õфــʾ õф õќλҪــҊ Όуــȋه ΍̮ــ҈ اʞ λــҪن 

 õф ӕــɮ ӕˢ Όуʾ ҈ќõˢ سȸʥō نõɢ ҈Ō ȸ̮ф ӕˢ şћ̮ ىȋΎان اҪƵ

Ҫ΍уʾه اõќõʥŌ̑Ύت اȋΎي Ƶــʽф şӖ҉ــт اΎــћʾ ӕــт̮ȋ اΎــō ӕــȸدõʾن 

Ύ ş΍ــ҈ ˢــӕ دҊــō ̬΍ــȸاس ا΍ɡΎــõʥن  ҪҊه اȋΎى ȋҊ Όуʾه ΍̮҈ و̒

 њــӖǑ ӕــΎن اõŌҊȸــΎش واõ̭ــќ ȸــǐō тــ΍̭ӗب وõŌΎا ǏŠˡš õŠǑ ӕɭфا

ҪуʥŌ̒ ӎӖƴӗ15ر фــƵ њــȋة ̒ــõˡل اõф õќ اǭــȋم ا΍ɡΎــõʥن اõќ اǭــȋم 

уʥŌ̒ــҪر وɢــȋӗõ (؟) و΍Ǒــˠ دӗ̭ــҪ اوфــ҈ Ҋــȋه ΍̭ӗــǐΎõō ̬уــ̐ 

 њــф õћʽــф õћــќõˢ ŋ ȸ̮ــуΎا ӕــˢ õћʽــф نõ ــȸره اќــ҈ ʽӗــȸف و̮ وˡ΍Ǒــ҈ و̒

 т҉ـــŠӗارو õќوا ̬΍ـــҊد ӕـــΎا т҉šȋـــǭا õќه واȋــ уʥŌ̒ـــҪ(ر) ˢـــƵ ӕـ

 õќλҪـــф õӗ (؟) тــ ـ̭ Ύ ŋ ȸ̮ــ ــ΍̬ واʞ λـــõع اуΎـ اʥΎـــӗȸ̐ اΎـــӕ دҊـ

څــ҈  Šʽš 23̑҉ــт اŠʾ̑ــƵҪΎ ӎћــ҈ ثدر 20ا΍ɡΎــõʥن اşќ (؟) ɭšــȸŠي ɡӗــȸا

ӕΎõʽš ҈څ ȋΎõō Ҧى у҉΍ӗ̬ ثدر ȸʾɢ ابҪƵ ӕˢ т̭ћʾ õ̒ȋʎ ӕΎõʽš

APPARATUS  |  7   22 It reads كλاء 23   20      .ذȸɢٔا
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letters in Arabic. He (?) told them (?): ‘Who wrote to (the) Ambassador (Ar. 
anbašadūr) a letter I saw?’. No one writes to me anything. I received two 
letters from our Sovereign the Sultan.23 But, our Sovereign, in my heart 
there is so much that one thousand letters cannot retell. I am, our Sovereign 
the Sultan, staying in Cochin (Ar. Kušī). I have no wage, I have no 
provisions. I sold my clothes and everything I possess. I have nothing. I 
kiss the sword of the Prince (Ar. al-brinsī) and from her Majesty the 
Sultana Dona Maria (Ar. Ḍūnā Mariyā), may God Almighty grant her a 
magnificent reward (?), may He have mercy on her,24 may He refresh your 
heart. The whole of Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān) hates me because of Lopo 
Soares (Ar. Labušuwāriṣ), they are scared of him, of his family and of (his) 
stories (? al-barm).25 Our Sovereign, this is all the work of Dom João (Ar. 
Ḍūn Ǧuwān), whose ship, the São Pedro (Ar. Sān Biṭrus), I was on. He did 
things that the captains with whom I came to you in Portugal (Ar. Bardʿān) 
(even) did not do. He made this all. I told him in Dahlak: ‘For the sake of 
the Sultan, go until you open the gate!’ and he (should) speak to the Bāḥr 
Nagāš (Ar. Baḥr Nakāš) and the monks until the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr) arrives from Jeddah. He replied: ‘I do not serve the Sultan, I 
serve (my) Captain-Major (Ar. Qabiṭamūr) and lord (?: Ar. sāyid)!’26 The 
same Diego Jaume swore he would tell you the truth, he admitted that he 
knows. He was with us on the ship. We were with the Captain-Major (Ar. 
Qabiṭamūr) in Jeddah. I took them to Dahlak and I showed them the road to 
Dahlak otherwise the ship would have gotten lost for you. Our Sovereign 
the Sultan, you buy captives to free them; free me for the sake of God 
Almighty, as a charity from you, in a fast answer with what God Almighty 
will inspire you.

23 The meaning of this passage is obscure. We can only understand the broad complaint.
24 News of Dona Maria’s death on 7 March 1517 does not appear to have reached Mateus 

when he wrote this letter.
25 Persian word meaning ‘memory’. In this context, it would appear to represent the stories 

Lopo Soares had been supposedly spreading about Mateus.
26 This would appear to be a misspelling of ȋӖɢ ‘lord’.
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Fig. 3 Letter 1, 1r: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 39 
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Fig. 4 Letter 1, 1v: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 39 
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Fig. 5 Letter 2, 1r: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 40 
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Fig. 6 Letter 2, 1v: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 40 
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Fig. 7 Letter 3, 1r: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 41 
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Fig. 8 Letter 3, 1v: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 41 
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Fig. 9 Letter 4, 1r: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 42 
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Fig. 10 Letter 4, 1v: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 42 
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Fig. 11 Letter 4, 2r: ANTT, Colecção de cartas, Núcleo Antigo 891, mç. 1, no. 42 
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Summary 

The relationship between Ethiopia and Prester John, the mythical ruler from the East searched for 

by the Latin Christians of Europe since the twelfth century, is long established in scholarship for 

the period between the fourteenth and seventeenth centuries. This relationship, however, appears 

one sided in the surviving source corpus with no reference to Prester John found in any Gəʿəz texts. 

Indeed, the Ethiopian monks at the Council of Florence in 1441 were recorded as actively rejecting 

such an association between this Prester John and their ruler to the Latin Christians. The absence of 

Gəʿəz sources aside, this article presents an edition and translation of four letters written in Arabic 

by the Ethiopian ambassador to Lisbon between 1509 and 1520, Mateus, to Dom Manuel, King of 

Portugal, which present him as the anbašadūr Brist Ǧuwān and pose further questions for this dis-

cussion. The letters provide examples of a counter narrative to the outright dismissal of the myth 

by the monks at Florence. With only one known clear proponent of each stance, and in different 

centuries, the discussion concerning Ethiopia’s rejection of the Prester John myth may require more 

nuance. 

 

 

 


